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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K/A
Amendment Number One

(Mark One)
[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2020

or

[ ] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from __________________________ to __________________________

Commission File Number 333-232845

COJAX OIL and GAS CORPORATION
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Virginia 46-1892622
(State or other jurisdiction (I.R.S. Employer

of incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

Wilson Boulevard, Suite E-605
Arlington, Virginia

22201

(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

(703) 216-8606
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s)
Name of each exchange

on which registered
None N/A N/A

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

None

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes [ ] No [X]

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes [ ] No [X]
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Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports),
and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes [X] No [ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
Registrant was required to submit such files). Yes [ X ] No [ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a small reporting
company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting
company,” or an “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer [ ] Accelerated filer [ ]

Non-accelerated filer [x] Smaller reporting company [X]

Emerging Growth company [X]

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for
complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. [ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of
the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by
the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. [ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
Yes [ ] No [X]

There was no trading market for the registrant’s common stock as of June 30, 2020, the last business day of the registrant’s most recently
completed second fiscal quarter. Therefore, there was no aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity as of such
date.

4,096,751 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding as of May 13, 2021.
·

EXPLANATORY NOTE
·

CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, a Virginia corporation (the “Company”) filed its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2020 (the “Original Form 10-K”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on May 14, 2021. This
Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K (this “Amendment” or “Form 10-K/A”) is being filed to restate certain information in the Company’s
previously issued consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, contained in the Original Form 10-K
(the “Restatement”) for the reasons stated below.

On May 9, 2022, the Board of directors of the Company, after discussion with management and its auditors, determined that the
Company’s previously issued financial statements included in the Original Form 10-K and the subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2021, June 30, 2021, and September 30, 2021 (the “Quarterly Reports”) should not be relied
upon because the Company incorrectly accounted that its acquisition of Barrister Energy, LLC that occurred on November 17, 2020 (the
“Acquisition”) was a business combination and reported the properties acquired at the fair value of purchase consideration, including the
common
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shares issued and debt assumed. After further analysis and discussions, the Company concluded that (i) the Acquisition is deemed an
asset acquisition and needs to be accounted for as an "acquisition under common control" as defined by ASC 805-50-30; (ii) the carrying
value of the Company’s oil and gas properties shall be reduced from $10,000,000 to $2,700,000, the historical cost to Barrister; and (iii)
the Company will use the successful efforts accounting method for its oil and gas producing activities. In addition, this Amendment also
reconciled certain dates in the financial statements, using November 17, 2020, as the date of the completion of the Acquisition and June
16, 2020, the date of the entering into the definitive acquisition agreement with Barrister, as the date when the Company obtained interim
operational control over the Barrister’s properties.

This Amendment sets forth the Original Form 10-K, as modified and superseded where necessary, to reflect the Restatement.
Accordingly, certain statements related to the Acquisition, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations, and the Financial Statements and Supplementary Data included in the Original 10-K have been amended and reflected.
The Supplementary Data has been removed as the Company deemed the SEC Reserve Report inadequate and confusing to the
purposes of this Form 10-K/A.

Pursuant to Rule 12b-15 under the Exchange Act, this Form 10-K/A also contains new certifications pursuant to Sections 302 and 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Accordingly, this Form 10-K/A includes the currently dated certifications as exhibits.

Except as described above, this Amendment does not amend, update or change any other disclosures in the Original Form 10-K.
In addition, the information contained in this Amendment does not reflect events occurring after the Original Form 10-K and does
not modify or update the disclosures therein, except to reflect the effects of the Restatement. This Amendment should be read in
conjunction with the Company’s other filings with the SEC.
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NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of
historical facts contained or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report, including statements regarding our future
operating results and financial position, business strategy, and plans and objectives of management for future operations,
are forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements are generally accompanied by words such as “may,”
“should,” “expect,” “believe,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend,” “target,” “goal,” “project,” “contemplate,” “believe,”
“estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions. Any forward-
looking statements contained or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report speak only as of the date on which we
make them and are based upon our historical performance and on current plans, estimates, and expectations. Forward-
looking statements contained or incorporated by reference herein include or may include, but are not limited to, statements
about:

our business strategy;
our plans, objectives, expectations, and intentions;
our future operating results and future operating results of Barrister as a wholly-owned subsidiary of CoJax;
the competitive nature of the industry in which we will conduct our business;
crude oil and natural gas commodity prices;
demand for oil;
the impact of adverse weather conditions and unexpected events like the COVID-19 pandemic and other pandemics
or epidemics;
the effects of government regulation and changes in that regulation;
legal proceedings, liability claims, and effect of external investigations;
the effect of a loss of, or the financial distress of, one or more key customers of our future, proposed oil production;
once we start operations, our ability to obtain or renew customer or supply contracts;
once we start operations, the effect of a loss of, or interruption in operations of, one or more key vendors, suppliers or
contractors;
our ability to maintain the right level of commitments under any future oil supply agreements;
the market price and availability of materials or equipment;
the impact of new technology on oil exploration and production and our ability to acquire and use that technology;
our ability to employ or engage as contractors a sufficient number of skilled and qualified workers and to retain key
management;
our ability to obtain permits, approvals, and authorizations from governmental and third parties;
planned acquisitions and future capital expenditures;
our ability to maintain effective information technology systems and guard against cyber-attacks or hacking;
our ability to maintain an effective system of internal controls over financial reporting;
our ability to service our debt obligations, including the debt assumed in connection with the acquisition of Barrister;
financial strategy, liquidity or capital required for our ongoing operations and acquisitions, and our ability to raise
additional capital to acquire and expand oil drilling and production and to fund overhead;
When and if our common stock is publicly traded, then the market volatility of our stock; and
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The impact of the acquisition of Barrister and the debt assumed in said acquisition.

We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made or incorporated
by reference in this Annual Report. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events.
We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report primarily on our current expectations
and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations, and prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks,
uncertainties, and other factors described in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report. Moreover, we operate
in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not
possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained
or incorporated by reference herein. We cannot assure you that the results, events, and circumstances reflected in the
forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events, or circumstances could differ materially
from those described in the forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements made or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report relate only to events as of
the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made
or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof, respectively,
or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not achieve
the plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance
on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future
acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or investments we may make.

COMMONLY USED ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINED TERMS

Unless otherwise indicated or the context requires otherwise, references in this Annual Report to:

The following are abbreviations and definitions of certain terms used in this document, which are commonly used in the oil
and natural gas industry:

“ARO” means asset retirement obligation;
“Barrister” means Barrister Energy, L.L.C., a privately held Mississippi limited liability company.
“Barrister Oil Rights” means the crude oil and natural gas exploration and production leases and rights owned or
controlled by Barrister (as more fully described under “Business – Barrister Oil Rights” below). Barrister does not own
the underlying real property;
“Btu” means one British thermal unit, the quantity of heat required to raise the temperature of a one-pound mass of
water by one degree of Fahrenheit;
“Basin” means a large natural depression on the earth’s surface in which sediments generally brought by water
accumulate;
“Commission” or “S.E.C.” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission;
“Completion” means the process of treating a drilled well followed by the installation of permanent equipment for
the production of natural gas or oil, or in the case of a dry hole, the reporting of abandonment to the appropriate
agency;
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“C.O.P.” means Central Operating, L.L.C., a privately held Mississippi limited liability company, and the former owner
of Barrister’s Oil Rights and current contract manager of limited drilling operations on the Barrister Oil Rights;
“Deep drill well” or “deep drilling rig” means an oil well capable of drilling to depths of approximately 10,000 feet or
more;
“Developed acreage” means the number of acres that are allocated or assignable to productive wells or wells capable
of production;
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
“Field” means an area consisting of a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs all grouped on, or related to, the same
individual geological structural feature or stratigraphic condition. The field name refers to the surface area, although
it may refer to both the surface and the underground productive formations;
“Formation” means a layer of rock which has distinct characteristics that differs from nearby rock;
“Gas” means natural gas;
“Gulf States Drill Region” means the area(s) where oil and gas leases, drilling and production rights, which are located
in the Smackover Trend. The Smackover Trend extends from Texas to the Florida Panhandle along the Gulf Coast
Region – both onshore and offshore. The Smackover Trend is a major oil and gas production formation in the Gulf
States and the principal source of oil and gas. Like the Persian Gulf, the Smackover Trend was rock stratum formed by
deposits from warm ocean waters covering the carbonate-evaporite basins in the southern Gulf States Region during
the Upper Jurassic Period;
“Horizontal drilling” means a drilling technique used in certain formations where a well is drilled vertically to a certain
depth and then drilled at a right angle within a specified interval;
“Mcf” means one thousand cubic feet of natural gas;
“MMBtu” means one million Btu;
“MMcf” means one million cubic feet of natural gas;
“Oil” means crude oil that has not been refined or processed;
“Productive well” means a well that is found to be capable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such
that proceeds from the sale of the production exceed production expenses and taxes;
“Prospect” means a specific geographic area which, based on supporting geological, geophysical or other data and
also preliminary economic analysis using reasonably anticipated prices and costs, is deemed to have potential for the
discovery of commercial hydrocarbons;
“Recompletion” means the process of re-entering an existing wellbore that is either producing or not producing and
completing new reservoirs in an attempt to establish or increase existing production;
“Reservoir” means a porous and permeable underground formation containing a natural accumulation of producible
oil and/or natural gas that is confined by impermeable rock or water barriers and is separate from other reservoirs;
“Resources” means quantities of oil and gas estimated to exist in naturally occurring accumulations. A portion of
the resources may be estimated to be recoverable, and another portion may be considered to be unrecoverable.
Resources include both discovered and undiscovered accumulations;
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended;
“Spacing” means the distance between wells producing from the same reservoir. Spacing is often expressed in terms
of acres, e.g., 40-acre spacing, and is often established by regulatory agencies;
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“Unit” means the joining of all or substantially all interests in a reservoir or field, rather than a single tract, to provide
for development and operation without regard to separate property interests. Also, the area covered by a unitization
agreement;
“Working interest” means the right granted to the lessee of a property to explore for and to produce and own natural
gas or other minerals. The working interest owners bear the exploration, development, and operating costs on either
a cash, penalty, or carried basis.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Corporate Background

Cojax Oil and Gas Corporation (“CoJax, the “Company”, us or we) was incorporated on November 13, 2017 under
the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. The Company was formed with the business purpose to acquire oil drilling and
production rights to properties with oil reserve reports showing sufficient oil reserves to justify drilling and to produce crude
oil for sale to any available domestic or international buyers. Since incorporation in 2017, CoJax has not had any revenue-
generating operations. Since incorporation, we have been engaged in organization of the company, evaluating and pursuing
possible acquisitions of oil leases and rights and exploring the availability of third-party funding for our business plan.

We are an independent oil and gas company focused on commencing operations in the acquisition, development
and production of crude oil from assets in the Gulf States Drill Region. The production and sale of natural gas is not part of
our revenue generating business because of the perceived cost and lack of profit potential for a small producer of natural
gas.

We are focused on establishing profitable oil exploration and production operations by acquiring the right, by lease
or assignment, to drill, extract, and sell oil. We may extract and sell gas from time to time, but any gas production would be
secondary and not significant business line. Our long-term goal is to create shareholder value by identifying and assembling
a portfolio of low-risk assets with attractive economic profiles, and our short-term goal is to identify and complete an equity
acquisition of producing oil and gas assets in the Gulf States Drilling Region and then raise sufficient working capital to
establish deep drilling rigs to fully exploit oil reserves. The acquisition of Barrister described below is our initial acquisition
in the Gulf States Drilling Region. Our ability to implement our business plan is subject in part on our ability to timely raise
adequate and affordable funding from investors or lenders for establishing deep drilling rigs in acquired oil and gas leases
and rights. If we cannot acquire oil leases and rights for our securities, we will also have to fund the cost of acquisition
from investors or lenders. The funding may be equity or debt. Our first acquisition, Barrister, lacks existing cash flow from
production to fund establishing deep drilling rigs. The lack of existing cash flow from existing oil production may also be true
for any future oil leases and rights due our focus being on what we deem to be underexploited oil leases and rights – like
Barrister. We may be unable, due to lack of required funding and any enhanced oil production from acquired oil leases and
rights, to acquire additional oil leases and rights.

The Barrister acquisition is the first and only current acquisition of oil and gas exploration and production leases
and rights as of the date of this Annual Report. Barrister has only minimal oil drilling and production operations. CoJax will
have to raise funding to establish one or more deep drilling rigs exploiting the Barrister Oil Rights. Even with deep drilling
rigs, Barrister Oil Rights may not produce oil on a profitable basis. We currently have no other potential acquisitions.

We have explored third party debt and equity funding for acquiring and expanding oil exploration and production,
but as of the date of this Annual Report have no firm commitments for funding. Our experience is that private funding for
new drilling on oil leases and rights with limited production or operating history has been difficult to obtain on affordable
terms in the past. Our goal is to raise sufficient funds pursuant to the registration statement described below to expand
drilling from Barrister Oil Rights
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and establish a more robust cash flow and production history from Barrister Oil Rights in order to attract future funding,
either from lenders or through offering of our securities to investors, to fund further drilling on Barrister Oil Rights and
possibly, subject to adequate funds, acquire new oil leases and rights in Gulf State Drilling Region. We focus on Gulf State
Drilling Region because of the quality of the oil and the ability to typically access oil without fracking and its history of
drilling resulting oil production without an inordinate percentage of dry wells or failed drilling.

We filed a registration statement on a Form S-1 which was declared effective by the Commission on October 9,
2020 (and the post-effective amendment No. 1 to this registration statement was declared effective by the Commission on
October 22, 2020) to offer and sell up to 6,000,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $2.00 per share. The proceeds
of the offering is to raise working capital for our corporate operating overhead and to fund establishing at least one deep
drilling rig for the Barrister Oil Rights. We do not intend to do exploratory drilling, which is expensive and typically can only
be afforded by the larger oil production companies. Barrister has existing rigs that are producing oil. Exploratory drilling
can verify the presence of oil and is used to reduce the risk of establishing deep drilling rigs. As an early stage development
company and with limited oil production history of Barrister oil rights, the Company does not believe that it can raise
funding for exploratory drilling rigs and deep drilling oil rigs. As of May 13, 2021, we have raised $53,000 pursuant to the
offering covered by said registration statement. The Registration Statement closed on May 31, 2021.

CoJax has a corporate website under development at URL: http://www.cojaxoilandgas.com. The website should be
operational in July 2021.

Acquisition of Barrister Energy

On November 17, 2020, the Company consummated the transactions contemplated by the acquisition agreement
dated June 16, 2020 with Barrister Energy, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company, and all of the members of Barrister
(the “Barrister Agreement”) or (the “Acquisition Agreement”). The Company issued 3,650,000 shares to the members of
Barrister in exchange for 100% of the outstanding membership interests, resulting in Barrister becoming a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Cojax (the “Exchange”). The Barrister Agreement also provided that we assume $2,700,000 debt obligations of
Barrister (the “Assumed Debt”), which debt obligation evidences the purchase price for Barrister’s acquisition of its current
oil drilling and production rights and leases in Alabama.

The debt we assumed is secured by the Barrister Oil Rights, which were acquired by Barrister from Central
Operating, LLC, or “COP” under the June 1, 2019 Purchase and Sale Agreement, and related secured promissory Note
and Security Agreement, both dated June 1, 2019 (the “COP Agreements”). These acquired oil and gas exploration and
production assets represent all of the Barrister Oil Rights. There is no interest owed under the promissory note, but the
principal is due in a lump sum payment due on June 1, 2021. This lump sum payment represents a significant financial
burden for us. The pay-off of the Assumed Debt will have to be financed or funded, or restructured, in order to avoid a
possible default and legal action to seize or sell the Barrister Oil Rights, which are collateral for the Assumed Debt.

Under the Purchase and Sale Agreement, COP retained financial benefit of oil produced prior to and on June 1,
2019, and Barrister owned all post-June 1, 2019 oil production. Barrister had until August 31, 2019 to challenge any title
defects affecting acquired assets. Barrister asserted no title defects. COP conveyed by Special Warranty of Title in respect
of acquired assets “as is and with all faults” on date of purchase, but the warranty does not cover fitness of acquired assets
for any specific purpose, or future
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productivity of acquired assets, or hazardous material liabilities. Barrister waived, released, held harmless and indemnified
COP and its affiliates from all liabilities associated with or arising from the Barrister Oil Rights.

Based on CoJax management’s knowledge and inquiries, the cost of establishing a deep drilling rig is estimated to
be $2 million to $3 million and the cost of drilling is estimated to be between $300 to $600 per lateral foot. Drilling costs
are affected by a number of factors, including having to penetrate hard rock strata, rig equipment failures and amount of
required drilling fluids. CoJax does not have the funds, assets, or funding commitments as of the date of this Annual Report
to pay off the Assumed Debt. There is no assurance, especially in light of the chaotic economic conditions imposed by
COVID-19 pandemic on the U.S. and world economies and the oil production industry and the uncertainty about when that
impact will end, that CoJax can timely pay off or restructure the Assumed Debt. CoJax lacks the assets typically required for
debt financing, and the Barrister Oil Rights are already subject to a secured lien held by COP under the COP Agreements.

As of the date of this Annual Report, Barrister Oil Rights are producing very limited crude oil production from limited
oil drilling operations, which production is not sufficient to cover our operating expenses or to fund establishing new oil
drilling rigs or increased drilling. Establishing new oil drilling rigs to exploit the crude oil reserves of Barrister commercially
is essential to CoJax efforts to establish a viable business. Even with one or more deep drilling wells for Barrister Oil Rights,
those wells may fail to produce any oil or sufficient oil to allow CoJax-Barrister to become profitable.

Business Strategies. Our long-term objective is to create shareholder value by identifying and assembling a portfolio
of low-risk crude oil production assets with attractive economic profiles, and our short-term objective is the leveraging of
the technical and managerial expertise of our proposed contractor operations team to deliver consistently profitable results
from existing oil wells. Our geographical focus is the Gulf States Region due to its light grade oil which is cheaper to process
than other forms of crude oil and due to the ability to tap oil reserves without fracking. We seek to achieve these objectives
by executing the following strategies:

(1) Day-to-Day Operations – Use of Contractors. Barrister engages COP as a contractor to operate the limited oil
and gas production drilling and storage operations for the Barrister Oil Rights as well as using Jeffrey Delancey, our former
Chief Executive Officer, as a part-time manager. CoJax intends to use professional contractors to operate existing and
future crude oil and gas drilling operations, including use of COP for Barrister Oil Rights. CoJax believes that the use of
contractors will allow CoJax-Barrister to engage experienced personnel to manage day-to-day operations without incurring
the additional overhead imposed by full-time employees and will provide flexibility in engaging operational personnel. Full-
time employees of CoJax-Barrister will generally be limited to senior executive officers of CoJax and, possibly, addition of a
full-time operations executive at Barrister when and if oil production and revenues increase from deep drilling rig or rigs.
This model of operation has a significant risk of being unable to retain key personnel who are merely contractors and who

do not have the incentive of a full-time employee to remain with an employer and can be lured away by more lucrative
offers of employment or engagement from competitors. CoJax will use contracts to seek to secure contractors for required
periods. CoJax believes that the contractor model of management is affordable and efficient and within the projected
ability of CoJax to fund. CoJax lacks the funding to engage full time, experienced oil operations executives in anticipation of
increased oil production.
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(2) Focus on Underexploited Oil Leases and Rights. CoJax will target oil leases and rights similar to Barrister as
possible future acquisitions. CoJax is seeking underexploited oil leases and rights in the Gulf States Drilling Region with
reserve reports and one or more drilling rigs, even if exploratory or not deep drilling rigs, which taken together indicate
that the oil leases and rights have potential, substantial oil production capability – substantial for a small independent
oil production company. CoJax does not seek oil leases and rights with productive deep drilling rigs as those properties
often require funding or working capital beyond CoJax’s current means and projected future funding and working capital.
Generally, the oil fields in the southern part of the Gulf States Drilling Region are less expensive to drill due to nature of
rock strata and depth of the oil reserves. Barrister is in the southern part of the Gulf States Drilling Region. CoJax will seek
acquisitions that can be obtained for stock or other securities or under an earn out arrangement and prefers acquiring
companies which hold oil leases and rights rather than acquiring individual oil leases and rights. CoJax’s preference is to
acquire companies with several oil leases and rights as opposed to acquiring individual oil leases and rights. The acquisition
of a company has the perceived advantages of acquiring several oil leases and rights and existing drilling operations with
in-place management in a single transaction along with possibly reduced due diligence costs and more expeditious closing
of the transaction.

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company. CoJax is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the
Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or the JOBS Act, enacted in April 2012, and we may remain an emerging company for
up to five years. For so long as we remain an emerging growth company, we are permitted and intend to rely on certain
exemptions from various public company reporting requirements, including not being required to have our internal control
over financial reporting audited by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to Section 404(b) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and
proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation
and any golden parachute payments not previously approved. In particular, in this Annual Report, we have provided only
two years of audited financial statements for 2020 and 2019 and have not included all of the executive compensation-
related information that would be required if we were not an emerging growth company. Accordingly, the information
contained herein may be different than the information you receive from other public companies in which you hold stock.

In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition
period for complying with new or revised accounting standards. This provision allows an emerging growth company to delay
the adoption of some accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies.

For as long as we are an emerging growth company, unlike other public companies that are not emerging growth
companies under the JOBS Act, we are not required to:

provide an auditor's attestation report on management's assessment of the effectiveness of our system of internal
control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley
Act");
provide more than two years of audited financial statements and related management's discussion and analysis of
financial condition and results of operations nor more than two years of selected financial data;
comply with any new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the "PCAOB")
requiring and in which the auditor would be required to provide additional information about the audit and the
financial statements of the issuer;
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provide certain disclosure regarding executive compensation required of larger public companies or hold shareholder
advisory votes on executive compensation required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act"); or
obtain shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

We will cease to be an emerging growth company upon the earliest of:

the last day of the fiscal year in which we have $1.0 billion or more in annual revenues;
the date on which we become a "large accelerated filer" (the fiscal year-end on which the total market value of our
common equity securities held by non-affiliates is $700 million or more as of June 30);
the date on which we issue more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible debt over a three-year period; or
the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of our initial public offering of securities, which initial
public offering of securities was declared effective on August 12, 2019, by the Commission.

Barrister

Barrister History. Barrister’s principal executive offices are located at 404 Short 7th Avenue, Laurel, Mississippi 39440.
Barrister’s telephone number is (601) 426-0056. Barrister was organized under the laws of the State of Mississippi on June

13, 2014.

Operations Management. Barrister engages independent contractors or vendors to provide any services or functions. Prior
to its acquisition by Cojax, Barrister was managed by its members. Currently, Mr. Jeffrey Delancey is taking the lead on the
part-time management of Barrister. Mr. Delancey has over twenty-nine years of direct oilfield operating experience. Mr.
Delancey has extensive experience with operations and administration in an independent oil and gas production company.
Mr. Delancey relies on contract operators to provide experienced personnel to handle all essential crude oil production on a
day to day basis for Barrister. As of the date of this Annual Report, COP manages Barrister’s drilling operations. Due to the
limited oil production, Barrister believes that the management of operations by a contractor is the most efficient approach
to conduct of operations. With any future increase in oil production, Barrister will have to engage additional personnel for
operations if COP cannot manage increased drilling operations.

Marketing. Barrister markets its crude oil production, whether current or future, on a month to month basis, through
established networks of contacts. Due to limited oil production, Barrister’s marketing effort is limited in scope. If production
of oil increases from the Barrister Oil Rights, CoJax-Barrister will have to expand the marketing efforts of Barrister by
engaging a person or firm to seek out new customers for the oil production in case the current customer base of Barrister
is unable or unwilling to purchase increased oil production. The cost means and extent of any enhanced future marketing
effort will depend on the amount of increased oil production, the then current market for oil and the potential customer
base for the oil production. If the existing customer base will not purchase increased oil production, then the engagement
of a dedicated marketing person who engages in direct marketing, by telephone and internet, of potential customers for
oil production may be required for sale of any future increase of oil production. A dedicated marketing person would
entail an estimated $60,000 to $100,000 a year in compensation and benefits costs plus a possible commission or incentive
compensation based on performance and an additional $10,000 to $20,000 in related annual administrative and overhead
costs (consisting of computer system, telecommunication costs, marketing materials and possible travel).
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Description of Barrister Oil Properties and Oil Production Operations. The Company currently has a leased land package
of approximately 700 acres in Southwest Alabama, in one contiguous land package. It also has two producing wells, a
saltwater disposal well, a three-mile gas transmission line along with gathering systems, and storage tanks for approximately
1,500 barrels.

Competition. Barrister Weaknesses. Barrister is undercapitalized to properly exploit its existing oil properties or acquire
new oil and gas properties for exploitation. Barrister acquired its oil properties in June 2019 and has not expanded the
production, acquired new oil properties, or improved operations. Barrister has insufficient cash flow or funding to grow its
core business operations. As such, Barrister is not an active competitor or commercial presence even among local, small
independent oil producers. Additional funding will be required to not only increase oil production but also to enhance
distribution and marketing efforts.

Barrister Strengths. Barrister has highly experienced principals who have significant prior experience in oil and gas
production in the Gulf States Drilling Region. Through the owners’ relationships, Barrister also has access to many
experienced oil and gas engineers, drilling personnel, and other professionals engaged in the oil and gas drilling and
production business in the Gulf States Drilling Region – all of whom can be engaged as contractors, consultants or possibly
employees, subject to increased oil production and working capital. The experience of the former owners of Barrister will
be relied upon by CoJax management in the initial phases of implementing the business plan. If oil drilling and production
substantially increases, and contractors like COP could not handle the additional work load from increased drilling and
production, CoJax would engage one or more experienced oil and gas industry operations managers to supplement the
operations contractors and the part time input and efforts from the Barrister principals. The additional personnel could be
employees or contractors. If oil drilling and production increases substantially, CoJax would engage one or more full-time,
experienced oil and gas operations executives to establish an in-house expertise and full-time oversight over operations,
even if contractors performed the daily management of operations.

Competitors of Barrister. There are many large, medium, and small-sized competitors in the Gulf States Drilling Region
(including off-shore drilling in the Gulf of Mexico) and adjacent areas which have extensive operational histories,
experienced oil and gas industry management, established market share, profitable operations, and extensive potential oil
and gas fields or leases to exploit and the cash or funding resources to explore new oil and gas fields as well as fully exploit
existing oil fields. There is also an established oil and gas production industry in northern Alaska and in North Dakota and
western Canada (where fracking has made available significant oil and gas reserves in shale formations). Barrister cannot
match the resources, whether financial, technical, manpower, size of proven crude oil reserves, and distribution channels, of
its competition in the Gulf States Drilling Region or elsewhere. Barrister’s current oil production is not sufficient to concern
or attract the attention of competitors, which allows Barrister to operate as a small provider of oil without competitive
pressures. If Barrister significantly increases oil production, then Barrister will face increasing competition from other small
independent oil producers selling limited amounts of oil. Any increase in competitive pressures will require investment in a
full-time marketing effort by Barrister.

Barrister Oil Rights

Description of Barrister Oil Properties and Oil Production Operations. The Company currently leases a land package of
approximately 700 acres in Southwest Alabama, in one contiguous land package. It also has
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two producing wells, a saltwater disposal well, a three-mile gas transmission line along with gathering systems, and storage
tanks for approximately 1,500 barrels.

Energy Production in Alabama. The State of Alabama is located in the Southeastern United States alongside the Gulf of
Mexico and has been producing petroleum since 1940s. While the peak of oil production in Alabama was in the 1980s,
according to the U.S. Department of Energy’s Energy Information Administration. As of 2020, Alabama was ranked 20th
among the states in production of oil and natural gas combined and is producing oil at an annual rate of 3.2 millions of
barrels of oil (based on 9,000 barrels a day as of June 2020). Alabama's major oil and gas-producing regions are located in
the western and southwestern part of the state.

The Smackover Trend. The Smackover trend is a belt of carbonate, evaporite, and clastic rocks of Late Jurassic age that rims
the Gulf Coast of the United States from Texas, up to Arkansas, throughout Louisiana, Mississippi, Southwest Alabama, and
all the way to the Florida panhandle. Stratigraphic and geochemical data indicate that the oil and gas were generated from
algal-rich lime mudstones. It was named after the Smackover oil field, which was discovered in Union County, Arkansas, in
1937.

Current Drilling on Barrister Energy Drill Region. There are three wells in the Barrister Energy Drill Region, which have
produced oil and gas since 1996. Currently, two of these three wells are in production, and one well is used as a saltwater
disposal well. We own approximately 95% working interest with a 79% net revenue interest as of June 1, 2019, the
acquisition date for Barrister. The two producers are Nall 16-3 #1 and the Nettles 9-12 #1.

The historical 8/8th production (gross production) of these oil wells for the fiscal years 1996 – 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019,
and 2020 are summarized in the table below.

Barrister DRILL REGION PRODUCTION

Nall 16-3 #1 and Nettle 9-12 #1
Year 8/8th Total Oil Produced (bbl) Total Gas Produced (mcf)

1996 – 2015 *
2016 *
2017 *
2018 *
2019 *

2020 **
Total

* Historical production prior to the acquisition of rights by CoJax.

** Current production and historical production prior to the acquisition of rights by CoJax and post acquisition.

Oil and Gas Production, Production Prices and Production Costs

Oil and Gas Production
The table below summarizes production by final product sold and by geographic area for the last four years.
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2020 2019 2018 2017
(8/8th barrels of oil produced at year-end)

Crude oil and natural gas liquids production Crude
Oil NGL

Crude
Oil NGL

Crude
Oil NGL Crude Oil NGL

Consolidated Subsidiaries
United States

Total Consolidated Subsidiaries
Total crude oil & natural gas liquids
production

Bitumen production
Consolidated Subsidiaries

United States

Synthetic oil production
Consolidated Subsidiaries

United States
Total liquids production

(8/8th barrels of oil produced at year-end)
Natural gas production available for sale

Consolidated Subsidiaries
United States

Total Consolidated Subsidiaries

Total natural gas production available for
sale

(thousands of oil-equivalent barrels at year-end)
Oil-equivalent production

Production Prices and Production Costs. The table below summarizes average production prices and average production
costs by geographic area and by product type for the last three years.

United States Total

During 2020
Consolidated Subsidiaries

Average production prices
Crude oil, per barrel
NGL, per barrel
Natural gas, per thousand cubic feet
Bitumen, per barrel
Synthetic oil, per barrel
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183 - 1,397 - 2,919 - 4,371 -
183 - 1,397 - 2,919 - 4,371 -

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

45.66 45..66
- -
- -
- -
- -
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Average production costs, per oil-equivalent barrel
– total
Average production costs, per barrel – bitumen
Average production costs, per barrel - synthetic oil

During 2019
Consolidated Subsidiaries

Average production prices
Crude oil, per barrel
NGL, per barrel
Natural gas, per thousand cubic feet
Bitumen, per barrel
Synthetic oil, per barrel

Average production costs, per oil-equivalent barrel
– total
Average production costs, per barrel – bitumen
Average production costs, per barrel - synthetic oil

During 2018
Consolidated Subsidiaries

Average production prices
Crude oil, per barrel
NGL, per barrel
Natural gas, per thousand cubic feet
Bitumen, per barrel
Synthetic oil, per barrel

Average production costs, per oil-equivalent barrel
– total
Average production costs, per barrel – bitumen
Average production costs, per barrel - synthetic oil

Average production prices have been calculated by using sales quantities from Barrister’s production as the divisor. Average
production costs have been computed by using net production quantities for the divisor. The volumes of crude oil and
natural gas liquids (“NGL”) production used for this computation are shown in the oil and gas production table. The volumes
of natural gas used in the calculation are the production volumes of natural gas available for sale and are also shown. Gas is
converted to an oil-equivalent basis at six million cubic feet per one thousand barrels.
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32.13 32.13

- -
- -

58.88 58.88
- -
- -
- -
- -

32.13 32.13

- -
- -

66.06 66.06
- -
- -
- -
- -

33.45 33.45

- -
- -
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Oil and Gas Properties, Wells, Operations, and Acreage

Gross and Net Productive Wells
Year-End 2020 Year-End 2019 Year-End 2018
Oil Gas Oil Gas Oil Gas

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
Gross and Net Productive Wells

Consolidated Subsidiaries
United States 3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - -

Total Consolidated Subsidiaries 3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - -

Total gross and net productive
wells 3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - - 3.0 1.8 - -

There were 3 gross, and 1.8 net operated wells at December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018.

Gross and Net Developed Acreage
Year-End 2020 Year-End 2019 Year-End 2018
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

(acres)
Gross and Net Developed Acreage

Consolidated Subsidiaries
United States

Total Consolidated Subsidiaries

Total gross and net developed acreage
Separate acreage data for oil and gas are not maintained because, in many instances, both are produced from the same
acreage.

Gross and Net Undeveloped Acreage
Year-End 2020 Year-End 2019 Year-End 2018
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

(acres)
Gross and Net Undeveloped Acreage
Consolidated Subsidiaries
United States
Total Consolidated Subsidiaries

Total gross and net undeveloped acreage
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370 352 370 352 370 352
370 352 370 352 370 352

370 352 370 352 370 352

700 700 2,992 2,244 2,992 2,244
700 700 2.992 2,244 2,992 2,244

700 700 2,992 2,244 2,992 2,244
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Separate acreage data for oil and gas are not maintained because, in many instances, both are produced from the same
acreage.

Barrister’s investment in developed and undeveloped acreage is comprised of numerous leases. The List of Leases is
included as Exhibit 99.2 to this Annual Report and is filed herewith. The terms and conditions under which Barrister
maintains exploration and production rights to the acreage are property-specific, contractually defined, and vary
significantly from property to property. Work programs are designed to ensure that the exploration potential of any
property is thoroughly evaluated before expiration. In some instances, Barrister may elect to relinquish acreage in advance
of the contractual expiration date if the evaluation process is complete, and there is not a business basis for the extension. In
cases where additional time may be required to evaluate acreage fully, Barrister has generally been successful in obtaining
extensions. The scheduled expiration of leases and concessions for undeveloped acreage over the next three years is not
expected to have a material adverse impact on Barrister.

Government Regulation

Oil and natural gas operations such as ours are subject to various types of legislation, regulation and other legal
requirements enacted by governmental authorities. This legislation and regulation affecting the oil and natural gas industry
is under constant review for amendment or expansion. Some of these requirements carry substantial penalties for failure to
comply. The regulatory burden on the oil and natural gas industry increases our cost of doing business and, consequently,
can affect our profitability.

Regulation of Drilling and Production

The production of oil and natural gas is subject to regulation under a wide range of local, state and federal statutes, rules,
orders and regulations. Federal, state and local statutes and regulations require permits for drilling operations, drilling
bonds and reports concerning operations. The trend in oil and natural gas regulation has been to increase regulatory
restrictions and limitations on such activities. Any changes in, or more stringent enforcement of, these laws and regulations
may result in delays or restrictions in permitting or development of projects or more stringent or costly construction,
drilling, water management or completion activities or waste handling, storage, transport, remediation, or disposal
emission or discharge requirements which could have a material adverse effect on the Company. For example, on January
20, 2021, the Biden Administration placed a 60-day moratorium on new oil and gas leasing and drilling permits on federal
land, and on January 27, 2021, the Department of Interior acting pursuant to a Presidential Executive Order suspended
the federal oil and gas leasing program indefinitely. The Biden Administration has also announced that it intends to review
the Trump Administration’s 2017 repeal of the 2015 rule regulating hydraulic fracturing activities in federal land under the
Presidential Executive Order on Protecting Public Health and the Environment and Restoring Science to Tackle the Climate
Crisis. While we do not have a significant federal lands acreage position at 240 net acres, these actions could have a material
adverse effect on the Company and our industry.

Currently, all of our properties and operations are in Alabama, which has regulations governing conservation matters, such
as the unitization or pooling of oil and natural gas properties, the establishment of maximum allowable rates of production
from oil and natural gas wells, the regulation of well spacing, and plugging and abandonment of wells. The effect of these
regulations is to limit the amount of oil and natural gas that we can produce from our wells and to limit the number of wells
or the locations at which we can drill, although we can apply for exceptions to such regulations or to have reductions in well
spacing. Moreover, both Alabama imposes a production or severance tax with respect
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to the production and sale of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids within their jurisdictions. The failure to comply with
these rules and regulations can result in substantial penalties. Our competitors in the oil and natural gas industry are subject
to the same regulatory requirements and restrictions that affect our operations.

Regulation of Transportation of Oil

Sales of crude oil, condensate and natural gas liquids are not currently regulated and are made at negotiated prices,
however, Congress could reenact price controls in the future.

Our sales of crude oil are affected by the availability, terms and cost of transportation. The transportation of oil in common
carrier pipelines is also subject to rate regulation. The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or the FERC, regulates
interstate oil pipeline transportation rates under the Interstate Commerce Act. Intrastate oil pipeline transportation rates
are subject to regulation by state regulatory commissions. The basis for intrastate oil pipeline regulation, and the degree
of regulatory oversight and scrutiny given to intrastate oil pipeline rates, varies from state to state. Insofar as effective
interstate and intrastate rates are equally applicable to all comparable shippers, we believe that the regulation of oil
transportation rates will not affect our operations in any way that is of material difference from those of our competitors.
Further, interstate and intrastate common carrier oil pipelines must provide service on a non-discriminatory basis. Under
this open access standard, common carriers must offer service to all shippers requesting service on the same terms and
under the same rates. When oil pipelines operate at full capacity, access is governed by pro-rationing provisions set forth in
the pipelines’ published tariffs. Accordingly, we believe that access to oil pipeline transportation services generally will be
available to us to the same extent as to our competitors.

Regulation of Transportation and Sale of Natural Gas

Historically, the transportation and sale for resale of natural gas in interstate commerce have been regulated pursuant to
the Natural Gas Act of 1938, the Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978 and regulations issued under those Acts by the FERC. In
the past, the federal government has regulated the prices at which natural gas could be sold. While sales by producers of
natural gas can currently be made at uncontrolled market prices, Congress could reenact price controls in the future.

Since 1985, the FERC has endeavored to make natural gas transportation more accessible to natural gas buyers and sellers
on an open and non-discriminatory basis. The FERC has stated that open access policies are necessary to improve the
competitive structure of the interstate natural gas pipeline industry and to create a regulatory framework that will put
natural gas sellers into more direct contractual relations with natural gas buyers by, among other things, unbundling the
sale of natural gas from the sale of transportation and storage services. Although the FERC’s orders do not directly regulate
natural gas producers, they are intended to foster increased competition within all phases of the natural gas industry.
We cannot accurately predict whether the FERC’s actions will achieve the goal of increasing competition in markets in which
our natural gas is sold. Therefore, we cannot provide any assurance that the less stringent regulatory approach established
by the FERC will continue. However, we do not believe that any action taken will affect us in a way that materially differs
from the way it affects other natural gas producers.

Intrastate natural gas transportation is subject to regulation by state regulatory agencies. The basis for intrastate regulation
of natural gas transportation and the degree of regulatory oversight and scrutiny
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given to intrastate natural gas pipeline rates and services varies from state to state. Insofar as such regulation within a
particular state will generally affect all intrastate natural gas shippers within the state on a comparable basis, we believe
that the regulation of similarly situated intrastate natural gas transportation in any states in which we operate and ship
natural gas on an intrastate basis will not affect our operations in any way that is of material difference from those of our
competitors.

Market Opportunity

We believe that we can establish a profitable niche in crude oil production due to the quality of the light sweet
crude oil produced from the Gulf States Region, which is cheaper to refine than crude oil from other regions of the U.S.
and Canada, especially the “dirty” crude oil extracted from North Dakota and Western Canada oil fields using shale fracking.
This optimism is due in part to the increasing percentage of worldwide crude oil production from the U.S. According to

a 2017 study by Louisiana State University: “During this past decade, not only did the U.S. experience historical increases
in oil and gas production, but it was one of the only countries in the world experiencing large increases in production.
This is because these horizontal drilling and hydraulic fracturing techniques used to extract resources from shale geological
formations were discovered and perfected in the Gulf Coast region of the U.S.

Our Key Competitive Strengths

The day-to-day operations of the oil drilling and production from our lease assets in the Gulf States Drill Region will
be handled by independent contract operators with experience in conducting oil drilling and operations in the Region. These
contractors will handle all operational aspects of oil drilling, storage and production. The Company’s officers will provide
executive oversight of its operation as well as handling corporate governance, legal compliance, financial affairs and funding
efforts of our company.

The use of operating independent contractors in oil and gas exploration and production is not an uncommon
industry practice for smaller, independent oil and gas production companies. The Company will use an operating company
contractor as it is deemed the most efficient and cost-effective means of operations for a small independent oil and gas
production company like us. We do not currently have the financial resources to engage and retain qualified industry
personnel as full-time employees for operation of our oil and gas exploration and production business. The use of
contractors is designed to allow the Company to use experienced oil drilling and production personnel without the high
overhead costs of hiring personnel as employees of the Company. With adequate funding, the Company intends to employ
this teaming model strategy to help attract and retain experienced oil industry engineering and production personnel to
identify drill sites and then efficiently operate those wells to produce oil at an above average industry rate of efficiency in
the Gulf States region.

Our Growth Strategy

Our teaming approach is also designed to facilitate rapid growth by bringing necessary expertise into operations
from available contractors. Our ability to realize profitability from oil production depends on success of deep drill wells,
engaging necessary operations expertise and market price for crude oil remaining at attractive per-barrel levels, which we
believe is $50 or more per barrel. If we have adequate funding and/or sufficient cash flow, then we may seek to drill for oil
in other assignee or leasehold interests or, alternatively, in oil and gas assignee or leasehold interests or properties owned
by our potential affiliates or teaming partners.
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Principal Executive Offices

Our principal executive offices is located at 3033 Wilson Boulevard, Suite E-605, Arlington, Virginia 22201, in
Arlington County outside of Washington, D.C., and our telephone number is (703) 216-8606. We rent our principal
executive offices under a month-to-month lease and for a monthly rental of $50.

Barrister’s local office is located at 404 Short 7th Avenue, Laurel, Mississippi 39440. Barrister has an agreement for
use of office space on an as needed basis at no cost provided by Andrew Cardwell, a shareholder of CoJax. The premises are
suitable and adequate for Barrister’s current operations. Barrister does not own any real property.

Employees

We have two full-time employees: Jeffrey J. Guzy, our Chief Executive Officer and our sole Director, and Wm. Barrett
Wellman, our Chief Financial Officer. The officers devote the number of hours necessary to perform their duties, which each
officer in his sole discretion determines extent of the time commitment.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and
uncertainties described below before making a decision to invest in our common stock. We have no revenue-generating
operations that will fund CoJax and Barrister operating overhead. When we have revenue-generating operations, our
business, operating results, financial condition, or prospects could be materially and adversely affected by any of these
risks and uncertainties. In that case, the trading price of common stock, when and if publicly traded, could decline, and
you might lose all or part of your investment. Even when publicly traded, our common stock may lack the primary market
makers and institutional investor support to allow sustained appreciation in market price or protect the common stock
from volatility due to day traders or other downward market pressures. As an early development stage company with no
public market for our common stock, there is a substantial risk of loss of investment and lack of liquidity. The risks and
uncertainties discussed below are not the only ones we face. Risks could also harm our business, operating results, financial
condition, or prospects, and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently do not believe are material, and
these risks and uncertainties could result in a complete loss of your investment. An instance of unforeseen circumstances is
the COVID-19 pandemic and its significant and ongoing adverse impact on oil consumption and the market price for oil. As of
the date of this Annual Report, the duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic are uncertain. In assessing the risks and
uncertainties described below, you should also refer to the other information contained herein, including our consolidated
financial statements, pro forma financial statements, and the related notes thereto.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS AND BARRISTER’S BUSINESS

Our independent auditors have expressed their concern as to our ability to continue as a going concern.
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On a consolidated basis, the Company has incurred significant operating losses since inception and has a working capital
deficit. The Company’s financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.

Because the Company does not expect that existing operational cash flow will be sufficient to fund presently anticipated
operations, this raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
Company will need to raise additional funds and is currently exploring alternative sources of financing. Historically, the
Company has raised capital through an officer loan as an interim measure to finance working capital needs and will continue
to raise additional capital through the sale of common stock or other securities. The Company will be required to continue
to do so until its consolidated operations become profitable.

These factors, among others, raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we are
unable to obtain sufficient funding, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations will be materially
and adversely affected, and we may be unable to continue as a going concern.

Our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on our ability to sell shares in the Company.

Our past efforts to raise working capital have been unsuccessful. Although our initial public offering was declared effective
by the Commission in August 2019, we were unable to sell any shares and terminated said offering. Notwithstanding, we
filed a registration statement on a Form S-1 which was declared effective by the Commission on October 9, 2020 (and the
post-effective amendment No. 1 to this registration statement on Form S-1 was declared effective on October 22, 2020)
to offer and sell up to 6,000,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $2.00 per share. The proceeds of the offering
is to raise working capital for our corporate operating overhead and to fund establishing at least one deep drilling rig for
the Barrister Oil Rights. As of May 13, 2021, we have raised $53,000 pursuant to the offering covered by said registration
statement. The Registration Statement closed on May 31, 2021. This offering may fail to raise any or sufficient working
capital for necessary operating expenses of CoJax or expansion of Barrister oil drilling operations.

The impact of COVID-19 pandemic and volatility of market price for oil in 2019 and 2020 further hamper efforts to raise
additional working capital by creating economic uncertainty and heightened risks in lending or investing in oil production.

If we are unable to secure this additional capital, we may be required to suspend operations as CoJax-Barrister operations
are already being run to minimize operating costs. It is not possible for us to predict at this time the potential survival of
CoJax-Barrister business. The potential future revenue and income of our proposed CoJax-Barrister operations are currently
unknown, as is the impact of Barrister as a wholly owned subsidiary of CoJax on CoJax efforts to raise additional working
capital. Barrister’s revenues are limited and dedicated to pay for Barrister operations. We do not believe that Barrister
revenues would be sufficient to be used for CoJax overhead working capital needs. If we cannot continue as a viable entity,
you would lose all or most of your investment in the Company.

The existence by each of CoJax and the former members of Barrister of the right to rescind the Exchange upon certain
triggering events could hinder our efforts to raise capital and to fund our operations.
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CoJax will have the right to rescind the Exchange prior to July 1, 2021 upon the occurrence of any of the following: (a)
any former Member of Barrister files a petition for protection from creditors under any chapter of the U.S. Bankruptcy
Code, and that petition is not withdrawn within sixty (60) days, or a receiver or other liquidating officer is appointed for
substantially all of the assets or business of a Member or (b) if Barrister makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors
of all or substantially all of its operating assets.

Barrister’s former owners, who are now shareholders of CoJax, have the right to jointly, but not severally, rescind the
Exchange upon occurrence of any of the triggering event prior to July 1, 2021: (a) CoJax files a petition for protection from
creditors under any chapter of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code and that petition is not withdrawn within sixty (60) days; (b)
CoJax is declared insolvent by a court of competent jurisdiction, or CoJax’s Board of Directors approves a plan of complete
liquidation; or (c) if CoJax has not been issued a trading symbol for its Common Stock by Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority or “FINRA” within ninety (90) days of the consummation of the closing of the Barrister Agreement; or (d) if CoJax’s
Common Stock has not been listed on: the New York Stock Exchange or NYSE American Exchange; or quoted on NASDAQ
Capital Markets; or quoted or listed on any successor market to the foregoing, by the first annual anniversary of the effective
date of the Barrister Agreement.

CoJax intends to seek quotation of its common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Markets in 2021. CoJax may not meet NASDAQ
Capital Markets standards for quotation of stock or be approved for quotation of its common stock on NASDAQ Capital
Markets by the deadlines imposed under the Barrister Agreement and that occurrence would allow the Barrister Members,
if they act jointly, to rescind the Exchange and terminate CoJax’s ownership of Barrister.

With the specter of a post-Exchange rescission, investors may not invest in CoJax and lenders or other investors are
more likely to refuse to provide funding to CoJax or Barrister due to the uncertainty of continuity of operations as CoJax-
Barrister. Further, rescission of the Exchange could expose CoJax and Barrister to potential liabilities from following lawsuits
or other legal proceedings: (1) public CoJax shareholders suing and alleging the rescission violates fiduciary duties of
management, (2) CoJax or Barrister being sued over liabilities resulting from the rescission of the Exchange, and (3) third
party lawsuits based on the rescission of the Exchange causing breaches of contractual obligations of CoJax, Barrister or
CoJax-Barrister, which third parties could include vendors, suppliers, contract workers or customers. CoJax could also face
possible environmental liabilities over Barrister operations while CoJax was the sole Member of Barrister.

Any rescission of the Exchange would result in Barrister no longer being an operating subsidiary of CoJax and, as such, CoJax
losing its oil exploration and production operations and revenues and Barrister Oil Rights. Rescission of the Exchange may
also impose additional transaction, legal, and accounting costs on CoJax, which costs could be significant or beyond the
immediate ability of CoJax to pay.

The Acquisition was consummated on November 17, 2020. CoJax assumed a $2.7 Million Promissory Note issued by
Barrister to acquire Barrister Oil Rights - the “Assumed Debt.” The Assumed Debt is secured by the Barrister Oil Rights
and evidenced by a promissory note issued to C.O.P., who was the prior owner of those rights. The Assumed Debt is due
and payable in a lump sum on June 1, 2021 (maturity date). CoJax assumed the Assumed Debt upon the execution of
the Acquisition Agreement. CoJax needs to raise money or restructure the Assumed Debt to avoid a default under the
promissory note for the Assumed Debt and do so by June 1, 2021. A default under the promissory note could result in
litigation causing the bankruptcy or insolvency of CoJax-Barrister. Any default on the Assumed Debt could result in the levy
on and subsequent loss of Barrister Oil Rights. There is no assurance given that CoJax can pay off or restructure the Assumed
Debt and avoid the potentially catastrophic financial consequences of a
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default. The raising of funds to pay off the Assumed Debt is a potentially daunting task under current and projected
economic and oil industry conditions imposed by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and disruptive impact of possible
production disputes among members of OPEC (especially Saudi Arabia and Russia), both of which cause erratic and
depressed global and domestic market prices for oil. The drop in consummation of oil due to the COVID-19 pandemic has
also resulted in oil inventory surpluses that have lowered the global and domestic market price for oil. It is uncertain if
C.O.P. would agree to restructure the Assumed Debt as of the date of this Annual Report or prior to maturity date of the
promissory note. There is no certainty about when the adverse impact of the COVID-19 epidemic will end, especially since
some U.S. Government health officials have stated that an effective vaccine may not be widely available until mid or late
2021. Neither CoJax nor Barrister has the funds, liquid assets, or funding commitment to pay off the Assumed Debt as of
the date hereof. There is a substantial risk of business failure posed by the Assumed Debt to CoJax if CoJax assumes it and
if the Assumed Debt cannot be paid off or restructured prior to June 1, 2021.

The Assumed Debt could impose other risks on CoJax and CoJax-Barrister, including, but not limited to:

Increasing its vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions by making CoJax-Barrister less
financially attractive to lenders and investors or increasing the lending or investment risk of CoJax-Barrister to a point
where it fails to meet lending criteria or investor risk limits;

Limiting its flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, challenges and opportunities, and changes in its businesses and
the markets in which it operates, by limiting cash available for revenue-generating operations or acquisition of new oil
exploration and production leases and rights;

Limiting its ability to obtain additional, necessary financing to funding for working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions, and debt service requirements and other financing needs; and

Placing it at a competitive disadvantage to competitors that have less debt or greater cash flow and are seeking
oil-drilling/production financing or funding.

CoJax senior officers are not experienced in the management of oil and gas exploration and production operations and
may be inadequate or ill-equipped to successfully manage a public company with oil drilling and production operations.
While CoJax’s senior officers are experienced business executives and Jeffrey Guzy, CoJax’s sole director and Chief Executive
Officer, has prior experience as an executive for public companies and as a director of public companies, and Mr. Guzy
was previously a senior executive of a private company that owned C.O.P., he was not involved and is not experienced
in the daily operational management of oil exploration and production operations. The oil and gas production industry
presents unique challenges to the management of a public company in that industry. Such challenges include understanding
the complex federal, state and local regulations and laws governing or affecting oil and gas drilling and production;
understanding the complexities of selling crude oil in the global crude oil market, including hedging strategies; successfully
developing a small oil drilling and production company in any industry with numerous domestic and foreign competitors,
most of whom have significantly greater: financial resources; market share and power; distribution channels; production
and storage capacity as well as far greater oil reserves under control or ownership; more experienced and numerous
management and operations personnel; access to necessary drilling and production equipment; ability to navigate and
hedge against erratic global market for crude oil; financial reserves that allows the competitor to survive suspension of
operations and inability to sell oil production at all or at a price that generates acceptable profit margins; influence over
customers, distributors of oil, regulators and legislators; and ability to successfully plan and prepare for changes in oil and
gas industry due to: emergence of non-fossil fuel means of transportation, especially electric power vehicles; legislative and
regulatory changes caused by concerns over global warming and pollution in general and a desire to
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reduce use of fossil fuels, especially oil; impact of COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 and 2021 and future years if COVID-19 is
a reoccurring or seasonal virus without an effective, long lasting vaccine; emergence of new virus pandemics with greater
lethality and contagion than COVID-19; changes in political party in control of Executive and Legislative Branches of the U.S.
Government and their legislative and regulatory agenda for oil and gas and climate control; and other future circumstances
or developments that are not foreseeable as of the date of this Annual Report.

Since none of the CoJax senior officers are experienced in management of oil exploration and production companies, CoJax
management will rely on the guidance of Jeffrey Delancey, who is a member of Barrister on a part-time basis and is an
experienced oil exploration and production executive at the public company level. Further, CoJax will rely on experienced
contractors, like C.O.P., and Barrister’s other principals to conduct CoJax-Barrister’s day-to-day oil drilling and production
operations. This reliance on Barrister principals and contractors, especially with Mr. Delancey and other Barrister principals
not being working on a full-time basis on Barrister matters, makes CoJax vulnerable to the adverse impact of the loss Mr.
Delancey’s experience and participation in management. None of the other principals of Barrister may be suitable or willing
to replace Jeffrey Delancey as an operational manager of Barrister, especially since they have other business obligations
and. interests. If CoJax expands oil production or acquires new oil exploration and production rights and leases, then CoJax-
Barrister would in all likelihood have to engage additional, experienced contractors or employ a full-time oil drilling and
production operational executive or manager to handle the increased oil drilling and production. The funds for an expanded
management team would have to come from the net proceeds of the public offering or other funding sources. If CoJax and
Barrister do not engage adequate, experienced managers and officers when and if oil production expands, this deficiency
may adversely impact the ability of CoJax and Barrister to manage its operations. As such, CoJax and Barrister management
may be unable to efficiently manage and operate any expanded, significant oil production and CoJax-Barrister may not
develop a profitable, sustainable oil production business.

We do not have sufficient resources to fund all of the necessary working capital needs of CoJax and CoJax-Barrister. CoJax
estimates that it requires at least $500,000 for CoJax overhead in 2021, including estimated insurance premiums,
accounting/legal costs and personnel costs, NASDAQ Capital Market fees. Based on anecdotal evidence and industry
sources, CoJax believes that establishing a deep drilling rig will cost at least $60,000 and drilling to 10,000 feet will cost
at least $2,200,000. Actual costs may exceed these estimates due to changing economic, market, regulatory and other
conditions and factors. This Offering may not produce sufficient working capital for CoJax-Barrister working capital needs
unless the entire 6 million Shares are sold and sold in time to fund working capital needs as they arise. If the public
offering fails to raise sufficient funding, CoJax-Barrister will be forced to seek other funding, which funding, especially debt
financing, may impose restrictions on operations or be so costly as to severely limit potential profitability of CoJax-Barrister
oil production, or be unavailable in sums and in time to meet CoJax-Barrister’s needs. The initial public offering of CoJax
failed to raise any working capital. If the current offering fails to raise sufficient working capital as needed, CoJax may be
unable to fund the expansion of Barrister oil drilling operations or pay for CoJax’s operating costs.

CoJax has no operating history with revenue-generating operations, and Barrister has a limited history of owning and
operating oil and gas exploration and production operations. CoJax was formed in 2017 and has never had any revenue-
generating operations. Further, Barrister’s drilling operations are minimal and commenced in 2019. There is insufficient
operating history for an investor to adequately evaluate these companies as an oil and gas production company, either
combined or as separate entities. While Barrister Oil Rights have a longer history of production, that history was minimal in
terms of production
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and does not reveal the potential oil production and profitability of Barrister Oil Rights. The lack of operating history
increases the risk of investing in the Shares. Further, the lack of a more extensive operating history may discourage lenders
or funding sources from providing working capital to CoJax or Barrister. There is no assurance that the Barrister Oil Rights
will produce oil on a profitable basis, even with deep drilling rigs. Investors should carefully consider the lack or operating
history of CoJax and Barrister and the lack of any significant oil production from the Barrister Oil Rights prior to making an
investment decision about the Shares.

We may have difficulty managing growth in our business, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results
of operations. As an early development stage company, growth in accordance with our business plan, if achieved, could
place a significant strain on our financial, technical, operational, and management resources. As we expand our activities
and increase the number of projects we are evaluating or in which we participate, there will be additional demands
on our financial, technical, operational, and management resources. The failure to continue to upgrade our technical,
administrative, operating, and financial control systems or the occurrences of unexpected expansion difficulties, including
the failure to recruit and retain experienced managers, geologists, engineers, and other professionals in the oil and natural
gas industry, whether as contractors or employees, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations and our ability to timely execute our business plan. Our ability to succeed depends in part on the
ability of CoJax and Barrister management to handle any growth in oil drilling and production and add qualified personnel
and retain qualified personnel as any growth requires to competently manage the growth. If we are unable to manage
growth and its challenges, then CoJax-Barrister may never be a profitable or sustainable enterprise.

We may incur losses as a result of title defects in the properties in which we invest. It is the normal practice in oil and
gas exploration industry for the person or company acting as the operator of the oil rig or well to obtain a preliminary
title review to ensure there are no obvious defects in title to the well. Frequently, as a result of such examinations, certain
curative work must be done to correct defects in the marketability of the title, and such curative work entails expense. Our
failure to cure any title defects may delay or prevent us from utilizing the associated mineral interest, which may adversely
impact our ability in the future to increase production and reserves. Additionally, undeveloped acreage has greater risk
of title defects than developed acreage. If there are any title defects or defects in the assignment of leasehold rights in
properties in which we hold an interest, we will suffer a financial loss.

Under the C.O.P. Agreements, Barrister had until August 31, 2019, to assert any title defects for the Barrister Oil Rights, and
Barrister asserted no such title defects. If there are title defects to the Barrister Oil Rights, then Barrister has effectively
waived the right to object and would have no recourse for the financial consequences of any title defects. As such, CoJax
may have no recourse if the Barrister Oil Rights have any title defects that prevent oil exploration and production.

With respect to future acquisitions of oil and gas exploration and production rights and leases after the acquisition of
Barrister, if any, those rights and leases may not produce oil as projected, and we may be unable to determine reserve
potential, identify liabilities associated with the properties that we acquire or obtain protection from sellers or lessors
against such liabilities. Acquiring oil and natural gas exploration and production rights and leases requires us to assess
reservoir and infrastructure characteristics, including recoverable reserves, development and operating costs, and potential
environmental and other liabilities. This review will not necessarily reveal all existing or potential problems. In the course of
our due diligence, we may not inspect every well or pipeline. We cannot necessarily observe structural and environmental
problems, such as pipe corrosion, when an inspection
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is made. We may not be able to obtain contractual indemnities from the seller or lessors for liabilities created prior to our
purchase or lease of the property. We may be required to assume the risk of the physical condition of the properties in
addition to the risk that the properties may not perform in accordance with our expectations. These risks could render
unprofitable our drilling operations and significantly impact the overall financial performance and condition of CoJax-
Barrister.

CoJax needs additional working capital to fund the expansion of drilling operations to progress beyond a subsistence
level of oil-based revenue. Small independent oil producers like CoJax-Barrister often experience an inability to obtain
affordable debt or equity financing for expanding oil production due to limited collateral and limited oil production and
revenues from operations. Under the chaotic market conditions for oil in 2020 to date, CoJax and Barrister may be unable
to obtain funding for the growth of drilling operations in 2021.

Obtaining financing, including the costs of such financing, will be dependent on numerous factors, including:

general economic and capital market conditions, including the then-prevailing interest rate environment;
credit availability from banks and other financial institutions willing to lend to small oil producers and willing to accept
oil reserve estimates without actual corresponding oil production, or willing to lend without hard assets as collateral;
investor confidence in us and our ability to increase oil production from the operating assets;
our financial performance, especially our cash flow and profitability from operations or lack thereof;
our level of any of our indebtedness and our compliance with covenants in debt agreements for such financing;
attaining and maintenance of acceptable credit ratings or credit quality;
availability of government financial assistance, including COVID-19 pandemic funding; and
provisions of tax and securities laws that may impact raising capital.

If we are unable to fund our working capital requirements, we may be required to curtail or suspend any existing operations
relating to the exploration and development of oil, which in turn could lead to a possible loss of rights or leases to
explore for oil, or we may be otherwise unable to implement our business development plan, complete acquisitions or take
advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could have a material adverse effect
on any future production, revenues, and results of operations.

CoJax’s Business Plan may not succeed, and CoJax may be unable to attain funding for an alternative business plan.
CoJax’s business plan is to acquire oil exploration and production rights and leases in Gulf States Drilling Region with

reserves that have not been extensively exploited, attain funding for enhanced exploration and production, and then
use the cash flow from existing operations to seek new oil exploration and production rights and leases to exploit. This
bootstrap approach to progressing from an early development stage company to a small oil and gas production company
with growing, profitable operations is subject to failure if affordable, adequate and timely funding is not attained or if CoJax
acquires oil exploration and production rights and leases with reserves that prove to be unprofitable due to drilling costs,
dry holes or market conditions for crude oil. An engineering reserve report does not mean that the projected reserves exist
in stated amounts or can be profitably produced and sold. Further, the
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global demand for oil may decrease due to a number of factors beyond CoJax’s control or ability to foresee.

We are entering a highly competitive and highly capital-intensive industry, and any oil production may be insufficient to
fund, sustain, or expand revenue-generating operations. The oil drilling exploration and production business are capital
intensive due to the cost of experienced personnel; equipment and other assets required to drill, produce and store oil;
regulatory compliance costs; potential liability exposures and financial impact; and risk of unpredictable volatility in oil
market prices and predatory pricing by competitors. Drilling requires an upfront payment of operational costs with no
guarantee that actual oil production will cover such expenses. “Dry” holes for the first and/or second oil wells could deplete
any available funding raised by the CoJax-Barrister and render the CoJax-Barrister insolvent.

The actual amount and timing of our future capital expenditures may differ materially from our estimates as a result
of, among other things, market oil prices, actual drilling results, the availability of drilling rigs and other services and
equipment, and regulatory, technological, and competitive developments. Neither CoJax nor Barrister has cash flow or cash
reserves sufficient to fund more extensive and deep drilling on Barrister Oil Rights. While CoJax will seek such funding,
there can be assurances that CoJax can obtain funding that will be sufficient to fund deep drill wells, which are needed to
produce any significant levels of oil production.

Future cash flow from CoJax-Barrister’s operations and access to capital are subject to a number of variables, including:

the market prices at which our oil production is sold;
our proved reserves;
the level of hydrocarbons we can produce from any future oil wells;
our ability to acquire, locate and produce new oil reserves;
the levels of our operating expenses;
reduction and stabilization of the impact of COVID-19 pandemic’s ongoing disruption of and reduction in the U.S. and
global demand for oil, and reduction of COVID-19 pandemic’s significant disruption and depression of U.S. and global
economic activity. These improvements may only come with the development of an effective, widely available vaccine
and that development may not occur until 2021, if at all;
greater availability of funding for oil exploration, which funding has always been challenging to obtain without a proven
track record of profitable oil production; and
our ability to obtain and then borrow under any loan or revolving credit facility and, when and if our common stock is
publicly traded, our ability to access the capital markets. Without quotation of the common stock on NASDAQ Capital
Market and primary market maker or institutional investor support, our common stock may not reach market prices
that allow us to capitalize on the public equity markets for needed funding.

Due to our contractor model of operations, we will be vulnerable to any inability to engage or retain qualified operational
personnel for new or existing drilling operations. Loss of key operational personnel could cause suspension of any
expanded drilling operations. CoJax’s and Barrister’s operation plan depends on a teaming/contractor approach to operate
oil rigs. CoJax and Barrister may be unable to locate or retain a sufficient number of qualified independent contractors to
operate a new or existing oil rigs. Finding and engaging qualified independent contractors will be essential to commencing,
expanding, and sustaining drilling operations. Since CoJax-Barrister will, in all likelihood, depend on one or two new
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oil rigs at the start of operations after raising sufficient working capital, any inability to engage or retain qualified
independent contractors would be potentially fatal to our efforts to establish increased revenue-generating operations.
The use of independent contractors also poses the risk of such personnel leaving for more lucrative opportunities with
competitors or other oil producers. Many of our competitors can afford more lucrative compensation packages for qualified
personnel. We lack the resources to effectively compete against larger competitors for operational personnel, especially
against competitors with liquid public markets for their capital stock and the ability to offer attractive stock-based incentive
compensation.

The loss of key personnel by CoJax-Barrister, including operational personnel of COP used to manage Barrister’s oil
production business, or COP’s refusal to continue to manage Barrister oil drilling and production, could undermine the
ability of CoJax-Barrister to manage operations and implement the CoJax business plan.

Neither CoJax nor Barrister have key-man insurance or the available cash to easily employ or engage experienced, full time
outside senior management personnel.

If Barrister produces oil on a more extensive and regular basis from enhanced drilling operations, the marketability of
oil production will be dependent upon transportation and other facilities, certain of which Barrister does not control. If
these facilities are unavailable, our operations could be interrupted, and our revenues reduced. The marketability of oil
production will depend upon the availability, proximity, and capacity of transportation facilities owned by third parties. Any
oil production will be transported from the wellhead to gathering systems. The oil is then transported by the purchaser
by truck or other means to a transportation facility. Neither CoJax nor Barrister will control most of these third-party
transportation means and facilities, and access to them may be limited or denied. If in the future, CoJax-Barrister is unable,
for any sustained period, to implement acceptable delivery or transportation arrangements or encounter production related
difficulties, it may be required to shut in or curtail production. Any such shut-in or curtailment, or an inability to obtain
favorable terms for delivery of the oil produced, would materially and adversely affect CoJax-Barrister’s efforts to attain or
sustain revenues from operations and improved future financial condition and results of operations.

With any expanded oil exploration and drilling, CoJax will eventually need to replace existing oil reserves with new oil
reserves and develop those oil reserves. Failing that, oil reserves and production will decline, which would adversely
affect future cash flows and results of operations. Once CoJax-Barrister starts increased oil production, then producing
oil reservoirs generally will be characterized by declining production rates that vary depending upon oil reservoir
characteristics and other factors. Unless CoJax-Barrister conducts successful ongoing exploration and development activities
or continually acquires properties containing proved reserves, proved reserves would decline as those reserves are
produced. Future reserves and production, and therefore future cash flow and results of operations, are highly dependent
on the success in efficiently developing current reserves and economically finding or acquiring additional recoverable oil
reserves. CoJax-Barrister may not be able to develop, find, or acquire sufficient additional reserves to replace our current
and future production. If they are unable to replace current and future oil production, the value of existing reserves will
decrease, and business, financial condition, and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.

Seismic studies do not guarantee that oil or hydrocarbons are present or, if present, will produce in economic
quantities. Oil exploration and production companies, like Barrister, rely on seismic studies to assist in assessing
prospective drilling opportunities on oil and gas properties, as well as on properties that
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a company may acquire. Such seismic studies are merely an interpretive tool and do not necessarily guarantee that
hydrocarbons are present or, if present, will produce in economic or profitable quantities.

Drilling for and producing crude oil are high-risk activities with many uncertainties that could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, or results of operations. CoJax-Barrister’s drilling and operating activities will be subject to
many risks, including the risk that CoJax-Barrister will not discover commercially productive reservoirs or dry wells. Drilling
for crude oil can be unprofitable, not only from dry holes but from productive wells that do not produce sufficient revenues
to return a profit. Any future drilling and production operations may be curtailed, delayed, or canceled as a result of other
factors, including the following:

unusual or unexpected geological formations and miscalculations;
fires from drilling or transport of oil or gas;
explosions and blowouts;
pipe or cement failures or breakdown or malfunction of oil drilling equipment;
environmental hazards, such as natural gas leaks, oil spills, pipeline, and tank ruptures, encountering naturally
occurring radioactive materials, and unauthorized discharges of toxic gases, brine, well stimulation and completion
fluids, or other pollutants into the surface and subsurface environment;
loss of drilling fluid circulation;
title problems for the properties on which we drill and resulting restrictions or termination of lease for oil drilling and
production operations;
other facility or equipment malfunctions;
unexpected operational events, especially the need to drill significantly deeper than originally contemplated or
finding, despite an engineering study to the contrary, that the drilling site is a dry hole that produces no appreciable
amounts of oil or no oil;
shortages of skilled personnel or unexpected loss of key drilling and production workers, especially as a result of
COVID-19 pandemic, which pandemic is significantly affecting the entire Gulf States Region as of the date of this
Annual Report;
shortages or delivery delays of equipment and services;
compliance with environmental and other regulatory requirements and any unexpected remedial requirements for
violations of environmental or other regulatory requirements;
changes in laws and regulations and the impact of those changes on us;
environmental rights group activism and activities by non-governmental organizations to restrict the exploration,
development, and production of oil and natural gas so as to minimize emissions of greenhouse gases or “GHGs”;
natural disasters, like hurricanes and tropical storms (common events in Gulf States Drilling Region), flooding,
tornadoes, earthquakes, or lightning strikes;
vandalism, theft, acts of terrorism, or other interference in operations; and
litigation that directly or indirectly hinders or suspends drilling operations, or regulatory action over missing, expired
or defective permits or licenses; and
loss of key operational personnel.

Any of these risks can cause substantial losses, including personal injury or loss of life; severe damage to or
destruction of property and equipment as well as oil transportation facilities; pollution or other environmental
contamination, and resulting remedial or clean-up responsibilities and repairs to resume operations; and regulatory fines
or penalties. Insurance against all operational risks may not be
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available to CoJax or Barrister, or not affordable for either company. Additionally, Barrister and CoJax may elect not to
obtain insurance if they believe that the cost of available insurance is excessive relative to the perceived risks presented.
The occurrence of an event that is not covered in full or in part by insurance could have a material adverse impact on CoJax’
or Barrister’s business activities, financial condition, and results of operations. Presently, CoJax and Barrister do not have
insurance for operational or general liabilities. CoJax intends to purchase overall liability insurance when it has sufficient
funds. We may not be able to afford insurance covering drilling, production, and storage of oil and establishing oil rigs
unless we receive sufficient funding from this Offering and possibly other funding sources. Barrister has operated on the
assumption that it would be able to self-fund any liabilities, which assumption is based on nominal production of oil. This
assumption may be untenable with any significant expansion of drilling.

The potential lack of availability of, or cost of, drilling rigs, equipment, supplies, personnel, and crude oil field services
could adversely affect our ability to execute on a timely basis exploration and development plans within any
budget. CoJax-Barrister may encounter an increase in the cost of securing needed drilling rigs, equipment, and supplies.
Larger producers may be more likely to secure access to such equipment by offering more lucrative terms. If CoJax-Barrister
is unable to acquire access to such resources or can obtain access only at higher prices, its ability to convert oil reserves
into cash flow could be delayed, and the cost of producing from those oil reserves could increase significantly, which would
adversely affect results of operations and financial condition. Barrister’s current drilling operations are limited, and the
availability of essential drilling assets may not become a risk factor until such time as CoJax-Barrister increases drilling
operations.

Oil prices are volatile. Any sustained decline in oil market prices could adversely affect CoJax-Barrister’s business,
financial condition, and results of operations and its ability to meet capital expenditure obligations and financial
commitments. The prices CoJax-Barrister receives for oil production will heavily influence revenues, any profitability, access
to capital, future rate of growth, and carrying value of oil production properties. Oil is a commodity, and its price may
fluctuate widely in response to relatively minor changes in the supply of and demand for oil and market uncertainty. Lower
commodity prices may reduce cash flows and borrowing ability. If CoJax-Barrister is unable to obtain needed capital or
financing on satisfactory terms, its ability to develop future reserves will be adversely affected. If drilling operations are
curtailed, then CoJax-Barrister may be unable to continue to hold leases and drilling rights that are scheduled to expire,
which may further reduce oil reserves. As a result, a substantial or extended decline in commodity prices may materially and
adversely affect future business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, and ability to finance planned capital
expenditures.

Historically, oil prices have been volatile due to sensitivity to political and economic developments or crises. The
prices CoJax-Barrister receives for oil production, and the levels of oil production, depend on numerous factors beyond
CoJax-Barrister’s control, which include the following:

worldwide and regional economic conditions impacting the global supply and demand for oil and the impact and
duration of the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic in the U.S. and elsewhere. The continuing spread of COVID-19
pandemic, especially in the Gulf States Region, will negatively impact the U.S. economy, demand for oil, and ability
to operate oil drilling rigs. The COVID-19 pandemic has the potential to undermine CoJax plans to try to establish
a sustainable oil production business in 2021. Any vaccines may prove ineffective or providing a limited immunity
period. Further, the
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COVID-19 virus may cycle in waves or become a seasonal threat to U.S. and other parts of the world (according to U.S.
Government medical experts);
the price and quantity of foreign imports of oil and impact on U.S. oil producers;
political and economic conditions in or affecting other oil-producing regions or countries, including the Middle East,
Africa, South America and Russia, which can affect global oil market price;
actions of the OPEC, its members and other state-controlled oil companies relating to oil price and production
controls, especially production disputes between Saudi Arabia and Russia, who often have differing goals;
the level of global exploration, development, and production of oil;
the level of global oil inventories – COVID-19 pandemic has been creating surpluses in oil inventories;
prevailing prices on local price indexes for oil in the area in which Barrister operates and sells;
the proximity, capacity, cost, and availability of oil gathering and transportation facilities;
localized and global oil supply and demand fundamentals and transportation availability;
the cost of exploring for, developing, producing and transporting oil which cost may go up due to oil storage surpluses
created by COVID-19 pandemic;
weather conditions and other natural disasters, and storms in the Gulf States Drilling Region appear to increase in
intensity due to global warming and in the past five years;
technological advances affecting oil consumption, especially the growing production of electric-powered cars, trucks,
and buses;
the price and availability and consumer demand for alternative fuels to oil and reduction in use of products that are
made from oil, especially certain plastics, which demand is fueled by environmental concerns;
expectations about future commodity prices, which is unpredictable due to inability to forecast the duration and
scope of impact of COVID-19 pandemic;
climate control legislation that increases the cost and lowers the demand for oil by providing incentives and tax
benefits for use of non-oil fuels, reducing tax allowances and increasing tax on use of oil-based fuels and imposing
limits on use of oil-based fuels; and
impact of existing U.S. federal, state and local and non-U.S. governmental regulation and taxes.

Conservation measures and technological advances could reduce demand for oil. Fuel conservation requirements,
development and industry trend towards electrical motor vehicles and trucks (coupled with improvements in the economy
and performance of electrical vehicles); alternative fuel requirements, increasing consumer demand for “green”
alternatives to oil, technological advances in fuel economy and energy generation devices will in all likelihood reduce
ongoing demand for oil. The impact of the changing demand for oil may have a material adverse effect on CoJax-Barrister’s
business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. Growing global and U.S. public support for climate
control laws and actions, a shift caused by mounting scientific evidence of the legitimacy of concerns about the devastating
potential of unchecked global warming caused by fossil-fuel use, will also in all likelihood impose a legal or regulatory
environment hostile to oil use. While the current administration in the White House has sought to roll back or eliminate
conservation and environmental restrictions and burdens on fossil fuel industries, the courts have blocked some of those
efforts, and private sector development of new technologies, like electric-powered vehicles, continues a trend to reduce
reliance on oil in some industrial sectors.

Any oil exploration and production operations that we acquire, including Barrister, may not be able to keep pace with
technological developments in the oil and gas industry. The oil and gas industry are
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characterized by rapid and significant technological advancements and introductions of new products and services using
new technologies. Fracking is one example. As others use or develop new technologies, any oil exploration and production
operations that we may acquire may be placed at a competitive disadvantage, or competitive pressures may force us
to implement those new technologies at substantial costs. In addition, oil companies may have far greater financial,
technical, and personnel resources that allow them to enjoy technological advantages and may, in the future, allow them to
implement new technologies before any of our acquired operations can. We or any acquired oil exploration and production
operations may not be able to respond to these competitive pressures and implement new technologies on a timely basis
or at an acceptable cost. If one or more of the technologies that any acquired oil exploration and production operation
uses were to become obsolete and that operation could not use the most advanced commercially available technology, the
operation’s business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Cyber-attacks targeting systems and infrastructure used by the oil and gas industry may adversely impact our
operations. Oil and gas exploration and production companies have become increasingly dependent on digital or online
or wireless technologies to conduct certain exploration, development, production, and financial activities. If any oil and
gas exploration and production operation that we acquire depends on digital, online, or wireless technology to estimate
quantities of oil and gas reserves and management oil production and distribution, then its process and record financial and
operating data, seismic and drilling information, and communications with its employees and third-party partners will be
vulnerable to cyber-attacks or hacking or malware infection. Unauthorized access to seismic data, reserves information, or
other proprietary information could lead to data corruption, communication interruption, or other operational disruptions
in exploration or production operations. Also, computers control nearly all of the oil and gas distribution systems in the
United States and abroad, which are necessary to transport our production to market. A cyber-attack directed at oil and
gas distribution systems could damage critical distribution and storage assets or the environment, delay or prevent delivery
of production to markets and make it difficult or impossible to accurately account for production and settle transactions.
While Barrister has not experienced cyber-attacks, there is no assurance that Barrister or other acquired operations will not
suffer such attacks and resulting losses in the future. The limited operations of CoJax and Barrister and resulting limited
reliance on digital, online, and wireless technologies have reduced the level of cyber-attack risks, but, as CoJax-Barrister
operations expand, the reliance on digital, online, and wireless technologies will increase and exposure to cyber-attack will
increase. CoJax-Barrister will have to fund and develop enhanced technological and internal control protections against
heightened risk of cyber-attacks. Further, as cyber-attacks continue to evolve, any acquired operations may be required
to expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance its protective measures or to investigate and
remediate any vulnerability to cyber-attacks.

Certain U.S. federal income tax deductions currently available with respect to oil and natural gas drilling and
development may be eliminated as a result of future legislation. Possible elimination of certain key U.S. federal income
tax incentives currently available to oil and gas exploration and production could be eliminated in the future. If enacted
into law, any such proposals would eliminate certain tax preferences applicable to taxpayers engaged in the exploration
or production of natural resources. These changes may include, but are not limited to, (i) the repeal of the percentage
depletion allowance for oil and natural gas properties, (ii) the elimination of current deductions for intangible drilling and
development costs, (iii) the elimination of the deduction for certain domestic production activities and (iv) increasing the
amortization period for certain geological and geophysical expenditures paid or incurred in connection with the exploration
for or development of, oil and gas within the United States. It is unclear whether these or similar changes will be enacted
and, if enacted, how soon any such changes could become effective. The
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passage of any legislation as a result of these proposals or any other similar changes in U.S. federal income tax laws could
eliminate or postpone certain tax deductions that are currently available with respect to oil and natural gas exploration and
development, and any such change could increase our tax liability and negatively impact our financial condition and results
of operations. While the Trump Administration has been focused on eliminating or reducing regulatory burdens on oil and
gas exploration and production companies, a change in control of the White House in 2020 could result in a dramatic return
to anti-oil regulation and legal requirements.

If we acquire other oil exploration and production operations, and oil and gas prices decrease, we may be required to
take write-downs of the carrying values of oil and gas properties. Certain accounting rules may require us to write down
the carrying value of any acquired oil and gas properties when oil and gas prices decrease or when we have substantial
downward adjustments of any estimated proved reserves, increases in estimates of development costs, or deterioration in
exploration results. Once incurred, a write-down of oil and gas properties is not reversible at a later date. Any write-down
would constitute a non-cash charge to earnings and could have a material adverse effect on results of operations for the
periods in which such charges are taken.

The financial reporting obligations of being a public company in the United States are expensive and time-consuming and
may place significant additional demands on our management. CoJax is subject to public company reporting obligations
under the Exchange Act. These obligations include the costs resulting from public company reporting obligations under the
Exchange Act and the rules and regulations regarding corporate governance practices, including those under the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2012. Our management and
other personnel need to devote a substantial amount of time to ensure that we comply with all of these requirements.
Moreover, despite recent reforms made possible by the Jumpstart Our Business Start-Ups Act, consummation of the
Barrister Agreement will expand our operations and increase the cost of compliance with the reporting requirements
and will make some activities more time-consuming and costlier, particularly after we are no longer an “emerging growth
company.” Any changes that we make to comply with these obligations may not be sufficient to allow us to satisfy our
obligations as a public company on a timely basis, or at all unless we devote the resources to enhance or adjust internal
controls and procedures to match growing operations and growing complexity of underlying financial and accounting work.

Commission Office of the Chief Accountant (“OCA”) issued a statement in April 2020 regarding the importance of
high-quality financial reporting in light of the significant impacts of COVID-19 pandemic. The impact of COVID-19 pandemic
on public company’s internal controls and systems and additional resources, including increased work by public auditors,
will add to the overall cost of operating a public company.

While we intend to acquire basic business liability insurance, we do not currently have insurance. If and when we acquire
insurance, we may not have enough insurance to cover all of the risks we face, and operators of prospects in which
we participate may not maintain or may fail to obtain adequate insurance. While we intend to obtain business liability
insurance, the business liability insurance may not cover all potential liabilities. Any liability insurance for Barrister may not
cover all liabilities of Barrister. We may elect not to carry insurance if our management believes that the cost of available
insurance is excessive relative to the risks presented. We cannot insure fully against pollution and environmental risks. The
occurrence of an event not fully covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations. “Material adverse effect” means an impact that could
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impose liabilities that would substantially tax cash flow or be beyond the ability of CoJax to pay or restructure. The impact
of hurricanes in the Gulf States Drilling Region has resulted in escalating insurance costs and less favorable coverage terms.

Oil and natural gas operations are subject to particular hazards incident to the drilling and production of oil
and natural gas, such as blowouts, cratering, explosions, uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or well fluids, fires, and
pollution, and other environmental risks. These hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life, severe damage to and
destruction of property and equipment, pollution or environmental damage, and suspension of operation. The occurrence
of a significant adverse event that is not fully covered by insurance could result in the loss of our total investment in
a particular prospect, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Barrister, as an operator of oil drilling operations, faces greater, more varied liability risks than CoJax. CoJax assumes that

the lender for any debt funding of Barrister’s future drilling operations would require adequate insurance coverage for
Barrister, and CoJax intends to include insurance coverage for Barrister, subject to the ability of CoJax to pay the premiums
for that coverage.

We do not have directors’ and officers’ liability insurance due to the cost. The lack of directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance hinders our ability to attract directors and officers. We intend to seek to purchase directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance if we have sufficient cash reserves from the net proceeds of this Offering or future funding efforts. Typically,
such insurance costs $100,000 or more per annum, if available. Further, directors’ and officers’ insurance requires that the
insured company cover the first $300,000 or more of costs prior to insurance coverage occurring. This high deductible
can be beyond the financial means of a small company and effectively denies the insured company of the benefits of the
insurance. If we do not have sufficient cash to purchase directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, our ability to attract and
retain qualified officers and directors will suffer, especially in light of the lack of a public market for the common stock and
resulting inability to offer incentive compensation to directors and officers. We may be unable to find an insurer willing to
provide directors’ and officers’ liability insurance since we are an early stage development company with limited operating
history and no revenue generating operations.

CoJax and its wholly owned Barrister Energy, LLC face extensive government regulation and compliance requirements
imposed by numerous federal, state, and local laws and regulations governing oil and gas exploration, production,
and transportation. This regulatory scheme also poses the risk of government civil and criminal actions and private
citizen civil lawsuits against Barrister or CoJax or both companies. CoJax and Barrister, as small early-stage development
companies, could be driven in bankruptcy, liquidation or dissolution by government or private plaintiff legal proceedings or
by any sanctions, fines, penalties or money judgments or awards imposed for violation of a variety of federal, state, and
local laws and regulations governing oil and gas operations. While CoJax intends to use some of the net proceeds of this
Offering to acquire liability insurance, the Company may be unable to attain such insurance coverage or attain adequate
insurance coverage or to establish any cash reserve for all possible liabilities and legal proceedings. Even a baseless or
frivolous regulatory action or private plaintiff legal proceeding could, by the cost of the defense, undermine and cause the
failure of CoJax-Barrister.

Any oil and gas exploration and production operated by CoJax-Barrister are or may become subject to numerous
environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations that may be imposed domestically at the federal,
regional, state, and local levels. The more significant of these environmental and occupational health and safety laws and
regulations include the following:
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The U.S. Clean Air Act, which restricts the emission of air pollutants from many sources and imposes various pre-
construction, operational, monitoring, and reporting requirements, and that the Environmental Protection Agency or
“EPA” has relied upon as authority for adopting climate change regulatory initiatives relating to Green House Gases or
“GHG” emissions.
The U.S. Federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the federal Clean Water Act, regulates discharges of
pollutants from facilities to state and federal waters and establishes the extent to which waterways are subject to
federal jurisdiction and rulemaking as protected waters of the United States.
The U.S. Oil Pollution Act of 1990, which subjects owners and operators of vessels, onshore facilities, and pipelines, as
well as lessees or permittees of areas in which offshore facilities are located, to liability for removal costs and damages
arising from an oil spill in waters of the United States.
The U.S. Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, which imposes liability on
generators, transporters, and arrangers of hazardous substances at sites where hazardous substance releases have
occurred or are threatening to occur.
The U.S. Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, which governs the generation, treatment, storage, transport, and
disposal of solid wastes, including hazardous wastes.
The U.S. Safe Drinking Water Act (“SDWA”), which ensures the quality of the nation’s public drinking water through the
adoption of drinking water standards and control over the injection of waste fluids into below-ground formations that
may adversely affect drinking water sources.
The U.S. Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act, which requires facilities to implement a safety
hazard communication program and disseminate information to employees, local emergency planning committees,
and response departments on toxic chemical uses and inventories.
The U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Act, which establishes workplace standards for the protection of the health
and safety of employees, including the implementation of hazard communications programs designed to inform
employees about hazardous substances in the workplace, potentially harmful effects of these substances, and
appropriate control measures.
The U.S. Endangered Species Act, which restricts activities that may affect federally identified endangered and
threatened species or their habitats through the implementation of operating restrictions or a temporary, seasonal, or
permanent ban in affected areas.
The U.S. National Environmental Policy Act, which requires federal agencies, including the Department of the Interior,
to evaluate significant agency actions having the potential to impact the environment and that may require the
preparation of environmental assessments and more detailed environmental impact statements that may be made
available for public review and comment.
U.S. Department of Transportation regulations, which relate to advancing the safe transportation of energy and
hazardous materials and emergency response preparedness.

There may also exist regional, state, and local jurisdictions in the United States where CoJax-Barrister operates or
may operate that also have, or are developing or considering developing, similar environmental and occupational health
and safety laws and regulations governing many of these same types of activities. Further, environmental and occupational
health and safety laws and regulations, including new or amended legal requirements, are expected to have a considerable
impact on any expanded CoJax-Barrister operations in terms of compliance costs.

The State of Alabama has extensive operation and licensing laws for oil drilling. The State Oil and Gas Board
of Alabama is a regulatory agency of the State of Alabama with the statutory charge of regulating oil exploration and
production, including preventing waste and promoting the conservation of
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oil and gas while ensuring the protection of both the environment and the correlative rights of owners. This board is granted
broad authority in Alabama oil and gas conservation statutes to promulgate and enforce rules and regulations to ensure the
conservation and proper development of Alabama's petroleum resources. CoJax will rely on Barrister consultants and local
legal counsel for compliance with state regulatory regime.

Regulatory bodies at the federal, regional, state, tribal, and local levels in the United States as well as internationally
and certain non-governmental organizations have been increasingly focused on GHG emissions and climate change issues.
The EPA has adopted regulations for certain large sources regulating GHG emissions as pollutants under the U.S Clean Air
Act. Developments in GHG initiatives may adversely affect CoJax-Barrister and other similarly situated companies operating
in the oil and gas industry by imposing additional and expensive regulatory compliance requirements.

Barrister acquired certain oil and natural gas properties from COP, and any prior operators’ actions with respect
to the management and disposal or release of hydrocarbons, hazardous substances, or wastes were not under Barrister’s
control. Under environmental laws and regulations, Barrister and CoJax could incur liability for remediating hydrocarbons,
hazardous substances, or wastes disposed of or released by prior owners or operators of Barrister’s Oil Rights. CoJax-
Barrister could incur costs related to the for disposal or to which it sent equipment for cleaning, and for damages to natural
resources or other claims related to releases of regulated substances at or from such third-party sites.

These environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations generally restrict the level of
pollutants emitted to ambient air, discharges to surface water, and disposals or other releases to surface and below-
ground soils and groundwater. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment of sanctions,
including administrative, civil, and criminal penalties; the imposition of investigatory, remedial, and corrective action
obligations or the incurrence of capital expenditures; the occurrence of delays or cancellations in the permitting,
development, or expansion of projects; and the issuance of injunctions restricting or prohibiting some or all of Barrister’s
activities in a particular area.

There are environmental laws that provide for citizen suits, which allow private entities to act in the place of the
government and sue operators for alleged violations of environmental law.

Prior environmental compliance costs by Barrister have not had a material adverse effect on its results of
operations, but there can be no assurance that such costs will not be material in the future or that such future compliance
will not have a material adverse effect on CoJax-Barrister’s financial and business operation results. The ultimate financial
impact arising from environmental laws and regulations is neither clearly known nor determinable as existing standards are
subject to change, and new standards continue to evolve.

Neither CoJax nor Barrister has insurance covering environmental and occupational health and safety risks, and any
insurance may not cover penalties or fines that may be issued by a governmental authority. Both Barrister and CoJax lack
insurance to cover potential violations and resulting liabilities for environmental and occupational health and safety laws
and regulations as well as claims for damages to property or persons or imposition of penalties resulting from CoJax’s or
Barrister’s operations, and the lack of coverage could have a material adverse effect or cause the failure of Barrister and, if
the Barrister Agreement is consummated, of CoJax. CoJax intends to use net proceeds from this Offering to fund
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purchase of basic liability insurance, but insurance will not cover all liabilities, especially certain environmental liabilities
stemming from past acts.

Terrorist attacks aimed at energy operations could adversely affect Barrister’s or any future oil exploration and
production business. The continued threat of terrorism and the impact of military and other government action have led
and may lead to further increased volatility in prices for oil and natural gas and could affect these commodity markets
or the financial markets. The U.S. government has issued warnings that energy assets may be a future target of terrorist
organizations. These developments have subjected our oil and natural gas operations to increased risks. Any future terrorist
attack on facilities used by Barrister or other future oil exploration and production operations, those of such operations’
customers, the infrastructure used for transportation of oil, and, in some cases, those of other energy companies, could
have a material adverse effect on Barrister or CoJax.

Barrister has a limited customer base for its oil production due to its limited oil production and operating history. The cost
of and difficulty in expanding the customer base for increased production from the Barrister Oil Rights is unknown. We
can only determine the cost and difficulty of expanding Barrister’s customer base based on actual oil production and then
current market conditions and demand for oil. As such, we cannot predict the cost and ease or difficulty of selling increased
oil production from Barrister Oil Rights. This unknown factor in commercially exploiting any increased oil production from
the Barrister Oil Rights increases the risk of investing in the shares of the Company because it renders uncertain a key factor
in future profitability of CoJax-Barrister.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR COMMON STOCK

No public market and no liquid public market may develop for our common stock. Our common stock is not authorized
for trading or quotation on any national securities exchange or national quotation system. Our common stock is not quoted
on the Pink Sheet or Gray Market of the over the counter market. While we intend to seek approval for quotation of our
common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market, we do not meet the requirements for quotation of the common stock on
the NASDAQ Capital Market as of the date of this Annual Report, and there is no guarantee that we will be able to meet
the requirements for quotation of the common stock on NASDAQ Capital Market or will be approved for quotation of our
common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market or any other public stock market. Even if our common stock is quoted on
a national securities exchange or national quotation system, the lack of primary market makers and institutional investors
may cause the public market for our common stock to have limited or no liquidity and investors may be unable to trade
shares of common stock when desired and in desired numbers.

When and if the common stock trades on a public market, our stock price may be volatile, and the value of any investment
in our common stock may decline or never appreciate. If the common stock publicly trades, then the trading price of our
common stock is likely to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, many of
which are beyond our control. We may lack the primary market makers and institutional investors that protect a stock from
volatility due to day trading or other manipulative practices. Our common stock will likely be a “penny stock” (as defined
under Commission rules) and be rejected by broker-dealers for deposit or trading. “Penny stocks” are often deemed too
risky for many institutional investors and individual investors.

In addition to the factors discussed in this "Risk Factors" section and elsewhere in this Annual Report, these factors include:
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our operating performance and the operating regulations affecting our business;
changes in our board of directors or management;
the publication of research reports about us or our industry or changes in recommendations or withdrawal of
research coverage by securities analysts, or the lack of such coverage for our common stock;
public reaction to our press releases, other public announcements, and filings with the SEC, including related to new
services or functionalities or announced or completed acquisitions;
changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles;
any sales of shares of our common stock by us or our existing shareholders;
Overall market and market price for our oil;
The extent of or lack of market support from broker-dealer market makers and institutional investors; and
General political and economic conditions.

The stock market in general, and the market for oil and gas production companies in particular, have experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations in 2019 and 2020, which have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of those companies. The worldwide market for crude oil is volatile and subject to wide swings
based on news of political or international crises, OPEC member disputes, unilateral actions of major oil producers like
Saudi Arabia and Russia, or economic news. Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market price of
our common stock if it publicly trades and regardless of actual operating performance. When and if our common stock
is publicly traded, and when we have public investor shareholders, then securities class action litigation has often been
instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. This form of litigation, if
instituted against us, could result in very substantial costs, divert our management's attention and resources, and harm our
business, operating results, and financial condition. We do not have a reserve for litigation, and we may be unable to afford
any extended litigation.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to
emerging growth companies will make our shares of common stock less attractive to investors. We are an “emerging
growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. For as long as we
continue to be an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements
that apply to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including not being required to comply with
the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act reduced
disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation, our periodic reports and proxy statements and exemptions from
the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden
parachute payments not previously approved. We could be an emerging growth company for up to five years. However,
circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier, including if the market value of our shares of common stock held
by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million or if we have total annual gross revenue of $1.0 billion or more during any fiscal year
before that time, in which cases we would no longer be an emerging growth company as of the following December 31st,
or if we issue more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during any three-year period before that time, in which case
we would no longer be an emerging growth company immediately. We cannot predict if investors will find our shares of
common stock less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our shares of common stock
less attractive as a result, and our
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common stock is publicly traded, then there may be a less active trading market for our shares of common stock, and our
share price may be more volatile or depressed.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies also can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until
those standards apply to private companies. We have elected to receive the reduced disclosure benefits of the JOBS Act.

Investors will experience dilution of their ownership interest due to the future issuance of additional shares of our
common stock. We are in a capital-intensive business and may not have sufficient funds to finance the growth of our
business, future acquisitions, or to support our projected capital expenditures. In the future, we intend to issue our
previously authorized and unissued securities, resulting in the dilution of the ownership interests of purchasers of our
common stock offered hereby. Under our Amended and Restated Articles of incorporation, as amended, we are authorized
to issue 300,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share and 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01
par value per share, which include 500,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock with preferences and rights as
determined by our Board. The potential issuance of additional shares of common stock or preferred stock or convertible
debt may create downward pressure on the trading price of our common stock. We may also issue additional shares of our
common stock or other securities that are convertible into or exercisable for our common stock in future public offerings or
private placements for capital raising purposes or for other business purposes, potentially at an offering price, conversion
price or exercise price that is below the trading price of our common stock.

The lack of securities analyst industry coverage of our common stock could adversely impact its market value. If securities
or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or if
they change their recommendations regarding our common stock adversely, and if the common stock is publicly traded,
then the stock price and trading volume of our common stock could decline – perhaps dramatically. The trading market
for our common stock, if it develops, will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts
may publish about us, our business, our market, or our competitors. If any of the analysts who may cover us change their
recommendation regarding our common stock adversely, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our
competitors, the price of our common stock would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage
of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could
cause the stock price or trading volume of our common stock to decline. As an early-stage development company, even
with the acquisition of Barrister, it is unlikely that we will be the subject of securities analyst industry coverage until we
become profitable and have an active, liquid public market for our common stock, which status may never be attained by
our company or our common stock.

If a public market develops for our common stock and if our common stock does not trade above $5.00 or stays below
$5.00 per share, then FINRA sales practice requirements may limit a stockholder’s ability to buy and sell our stock. FINRA
has adopted rules that relate to the application of the SEC’s penny stock rules in trading securities and require that a broker/
dealer have reasonable grounds for believing that the investment is suitable for that customer, prior to recommending
the investment. Prior to recommending speculative, low priced securities (being ones below $5 per share) to their non-
institutional customers, broker/dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information about the customer’s financial
status, tax status, investment objectives, and other information. Under interpretations of these rules, FINRA believes that
there is a high probability that speculative, low priced securities will not be suitable for at least some customers. The FINRA
requirements make it more difficult for broker/dealers to recommend
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that their customers buy our common stock, which may have the effect of reducing the level of trading activity and liquidity
of our common stock (when and if it is publicly traded). Further, many brokers charge higher transactional fees for penny
stock transactions. As a result of the foregoing issues, fewer broker/dealers will be willing to make a market in our common
stock, reducing a shareholder’s ability to resell shares of our common stock. Many brokerage firms will not accept “penny
stock” stocks for deposit due to the administrative costs and potential liability exposure inherent with “penny stock” stock.
Investors may be unable to deposit shares of common stock in brokerage accounts. Further, we have not qualified the
common stock for electronic transfer by Deposit Transfer Corporation or “DTC,” and the lack of electronic transfer will
further hamper the ability of investors to transfer their shares of common stock. Investors may be frustrated in trying to
trade or deposit their shares of common stock until the common stock is qualified for quotation on NASDAQ Capital Market,
if ever. Being a “penny stock” would render our common stock unattractive to many investors.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately
report our financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, shareholders could lose confidence in our financial and other
public reporting, which would harm our business and the trading price of our common stock. Effective internal controls
over financial reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, together with adequate disclosure
controls and procedures, are designed to prevent fraud. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls
or difficulties encountered in their implementation could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. In addition,
any testing by us conducted in connection with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or any subsequent testing by our
independent registered public accounting firm may reveal deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting that
are deemed to be material weaknesses or that may require prospective or retroactive changes to our financial statements
or identify other areas for further attention or improvement. Inferior internal controls could also cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a negative effect, when and if our common stock publicly
trades, on the trading price of our common stock.

There is no assurance that CoJax common stock will be approved for quotation on the NASDAQ Capital Markets. Even if
qualified to be approved for quotation of its common stock, CoJax common stock may not be approved for quotation since
the approval is at the discretion of NASDAQ, and NASDAQ may rely on a number of reasons to deny quotation on NASDAQ
Capital Market. CoJax has no plans to seek quotation of its common stock on The OTC Markets Group, Inc. Even if quoted on
the NASDAQ Capital Market, CoJax commons stock will not have a liquid market reflecting fair market value of the common
stock without adequate primary market maker, and institutional investor support, which support does not exist as of the
date of this Annual Report and may not develop in the future.

We may issue shares of preferred stock that could adversely affect holders of shares of our common stock. If we issue
shares of preferred stock in the future that have a preference over shares of our common stock with respect to the payment
of dividends or upon our liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, or if we issue shares of preferred stock with voting rights
that dilute the voting power of shares of our common stock, the rights of holders of shares of our common stock or the
trading price of shares of our common stock, when and if public traded, could be adversely affected.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock, and our ability to pay dividends on our common stock is
restricted. We have not historically paid a dividend on our common stock, cash or otherwise, and do not intend to do so in
the foreseeable future. Any future dividends also may also be restricted by any loan or debt agreements.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We do not own any real property. We rent our principal executive offices at 3033 Wilson Boulevard, Suite E-605,
Arlington, Virginia 22201, under a month-to-month lease and for a monthly rental of $50. This office space is deemed
adequate for current needs of our executive management and corporate headquarters. We have no other offices. We
believe that this property is sufficient for our current and proposed business.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We know of no material, active, pending or threatened proceeding against us or our subsidiaries, nor are we, or any
subsidiary, involved as a plaintiff or defendant in any material proceeding or pending litigation.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

There is currently no market for our shares.

Holders of Common Stock

As of May 13, 2021, there were 41 shareholders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain future
earnings, if any, for working capital purposes and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Recent Issuances of Unregistered Securities

There were no other sales of equity securities during the period covered by this Annual Report that were not
registered under the Securities Act or reported on a Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plan

CoJax has an equity compensation plan. No shares have been issued as of the date of this Current Report.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Forward-Looking Statements

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related notes
thereto. The management's discussion and analysis contain forward-looking statements, such as statements of our plans,
objectives, expectations, and intentions. Any statements that are not statements of historical fact are forward-looking
statements. When used, the words "believe," "plan," "intend," "anticipate," "target," "estimate," "expect" and the like, and/
or future tense or conditional constructions ("will," "may," "could," "should," etc.), or similar expressions, identify certain of
these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, including those
under "Risk Factors," which appear in elsewhere in this Annual Report, that could cause
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actual results or events to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Our actual
results and the timing of events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a
result of several factors. We do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or
circumstances occurring after the date of this Annual Report.

Overview

We were incorporated on November 13, 2017, under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia in order to acquire,
fund, and operate oil exploration and production from assets in the Gulf States Drill Region.

We have no revenue-generating operations as of the date of this prospectus.

We are an early stage corporation seeking to become an independent energy company focused on the acquisition
and subsequent exploitation and development of crude oil in the Gulf States Drill Region.

We caution you that these forward-looking statements are subject to all of the risks and uncertainties, most of
which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control, incident to the exploration for and development,
production, gathering, and sale of oil. While any oil and gas exploration and production leases and rights that we may
acquire may produce gas, we do not currently regard gas as a significant revenue source from possible future oil production
operations. The exploitation of gas may change if our oil drilling produces sufficient quantities of gas to warrant its
exploitation and sale as a primary business line. These risks include but are not limited to, commodity price volatility,
inflation, lack of availability of drilling and production equipment and services, availability of affordable funding, availability
of qualified personnel, environmental risks, problems or delays in drilling, other operating risks and regulatory changes, the
uncertainty inherent in estimating oil reserves and in projecting future rates of production, cash flow and access to capital,
the timing of development expenditures, and the other risks described under “Risk Factors” in this prospectus. COVID-19
pandemic also imposes a significant risk factor affecting demand for oil, economic conditions, availability of personnel,
the ability of workers to work under possible social distancing and mask requirements and demand from consumers and
industries that use oil and oil-based products. Until there is an effective vaccine, there is no certainty as to the duration,
scope, and extent of COVID-19 pandemic’s impact on the oil industry and our company.

Since our inception, we have incurred operating losses. We have not generated positive cash flows from operations,
and there are no assurances that we will be successful in obtaining an adequate level of financing for the development and
commercialization of our proposed oil exploration and production business. These factors raise substantial doubt about our
ability to continue as a going concern. We expect to incur expenses and operating losses for the foreseeable future as we
seek to implement our business plan. Due to its limited revenues, the acquisition of Barrister does not remedy substantial
doubts about our ability as a going concern. Acquisition of the Barrister Oil Rights does not enhance our asset base for debt
financing because the Barrister Oil Rights are secured by a first senior lien held by COP under the COP Agreements. If we do
not raise additional working capital, we will not be unable to continue operations, which could result in the rescission of the
acquisition of Barrister if that failure occurs prior to the Rescission Deadline and constitutes a trigger event for a rescission
of the Exchange. Loss of Barrister would leave CoJax without any operating assets or revenues. In any liquidation of CoJax,
there would not
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be sufficient assets for distribution of assets or money to CoJax shareholders. CoJax has been unable to raise additional
capital as of the date of this prospectus, other than personal loans by Jeffrey J. Guzy, CoJax’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors, and $53,000 raised in the public offering.

Reserve engineering is a process of estimating underground accumulations of oil that cannot be measured in an
exact way. The accuracy of any reserve estimate depends on the quality of available data, the interpretation of such data
and price and cost assumptions made by reserve engineers. In addition, the results of drilling, testing, and production
activities may justify revisions of estimates that were made previously. If significant, such revisions would change the
schedule of any further production and development drilling. Accordingly, reserve estimates may differ significantly from
the quantities of oil that are ultimately recovered. When we acquire oil exploration and production leases and rights, we
will use oil reserve reports as one factor in deciding whether to drill in the property of a specific oil lease or right. Reserve
estimates depend on many assumptions that may turn out to be inaccurate. Any material inaccuracies in reserve estimates
or underlying assumptions will materially affect the quantities and present value of oil from a drilling site.

Effects of COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic. Governments have tried to
slow the spread of the virus by imposing social distancing guidelines, travel restrictions and stay-at-home orders, which have
caused a significant contraction in global economic activity, including a decline in the demand for oil and to a lesser extent
natural gas.

Our business and operations have been adversely affected by, and may continue to be adversely affected by, the COVID-19
pandemic and the public health response thereto. As a result of the COVID-19 outbreak and the adverse public health
developments, including voluntary and mandatory quarantines, travel restrictions and other restrictions, our operations,
and those of our subcontractors, customers and suppliers, have experienced, and may to continue to experience, delays or
disruptions.

In addition, our financial condition and results of operations have been, and may continue to be, adversely affected by the
ongoing coronavirus outbreak. The timeline and potential magnitude of the COVID-19 outbreak and its consequences are
currently unknown. The prolongation or exacerbation of this pandemic could more extensively affect the United States and
global economy, including the demand for oil and natural gas.

The Company has experienced the effects of a negatively impacted domestic and international demand for crude oil and
natural gas, which has contributed to price volatility and impacted the price we received for our production, and moreover
materially and adversely affected the demand for and marketability of our production. For the Company, this means that
production was shut in for some of our wells, and that we held some of our production as inventory to be sold at a later
date because we refused to accept the unprecedented and exceptionally low price for our production. Our 2020 results
were negatively impacted by the pandemic response. At this time, we expect that our financial results for the first quarter of
2021 may be adversely impacted by our response to, the existence of and the global response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Also, in March 2020, Saudi Arabia and Russia, along with OPEC producers, failed to agree to cut oil production, and Saudi
Arabia significantly cut the sell price of its oil and announced plans to increase
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production, which events together contributed to a sharp drop in global oil prices. While OPEC, Russia and other allied
producers reached an agreement in April 2020, and most recently in March 2021, to reduce production, oil prices remained
low until the first quarter of 2021. While OPEC+ producers ultimately agreed to cut global petroleum output, such cut was
not enough to offset the impact of COVID-19 on 2020 demand. As a result of this decrease in demand and increase in supply,
oil and natural gas prices decreased, which affected our liquidity. Additionally, with depressed oil and natural gas prices, we
incurred a write-down to our oil and gas properties and additional write-downs may be required in future periods if prices
decrease from current levels.

The imbalance between the supply of and demand for oil, as well as the uncertainty around the extent and timing of an
economic recovery, caused significant market volatility and a substantial adverse effect on commodity prices during the last
two quarters of 2020. The Company expects ongoing oil and gas price volatility over the short-term. The full impact of the
coronavirus on oil and natural gas prices continues to evolve as of the date of this report. As such, the full magnitude of
such events on the Company remains uncertain. Management is actively monitoring the global situation and its impact on
the Company’s future operations, financial position and liquidity in fiscal year 2020.

As a producer of oil and natural gas, we are recognized as an essential business under various federal, state and local
regulations related to the COVID-19 pandemic. We have continued to operate as permitted under these regulations while
taking steps to protect the health and safety of our workers. We have implemented protocols to reduce the risk of
an outbreak within our field operations, and these protocols have not reduced production or efficiency in a significant
manner. A substantial portion of our non-field level employees have transitioned temporarily to remote work-from-home
arrangements. With these arrangements in place, we have been able to maintain a consistent level of effectiveness,
including maintaining our day-to-day operations, our financial reporting systems and our internal control over financial
reporting.

Although such restraints have relaxed significantly, we may become subject to such constraints if we are not able to sell our
production, or certain components of our production. The lack of a market or available storage for natural gas product or
oil could result in us having to shut in production.

Results of Operations

Twelve-month period ended December 31, 2020 compared to twelve-month period ended December 31, 2019

Revenues

Revenues were $0 for the year ended December 31, 2020, and $0 in the same period of last year. We are an early stage
Company having just acquired our first lease assets. We expect to begin producing revenue in 2021.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative (G&A) expenses were $1,349,653 for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to $35,169
in the same period in 2019, representing an increase of 3738%, or $1,314,484. The increase was primarily due to the
increase of salary expense and accruals of $611,714 and the Barrister acquisition costs of $620,500.

Research and Development Expenses

The Company had no Research and Development (R&D) expenses for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December
31, 2019.

Operating Income

Total operating income was $0 for the year ended December 31, 2020, and $0 for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Net Income

As a result of the above factors, we had a net loss of $1,363,296 for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to a net
loss of $35,169 in the same period of last year.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We have incurred net operating losses and operating cash flow deficits since inception, continuing through the years ended
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. We are in the early stages of acquisition and development of oil and gas
leaseholds and properties, and we have been funded primarily by a combination of loans or contributions of Jeffrey J. Guzy,
an officer, and director of the Company. This limited funding has been inadequate as of the date of this Annual Report to
fund our business strategy. It has covered just general administration and legal compliance for the Company.

We had cash and cash equivalents at December 30, 2020 of $44,051.

We believe that our working capital on hand, as of the date of this report, will not be sufficient to fund our plan of
operations over the next 12 months. We require additional capital within the next 12 months. Our ability to obtain
additional financing may be impaired by many factors outside of our control, including the capital markets (both generally
and in the crude oil industry in particular), our lack of operating history, the location of our proposed or future crude oil
properties and prices of crude oil on the commodities markets (which will impact the amount of asset-based financing
available to us) and other factors. Further, if oil prices on the commodities markets decline, our revenues from any
exploitation of Barrister Oil Rights will likely decrease, and such decreased revenues may increase our requirements for
capital.

Debt or equity financing arrangements may not be available to us or may be available only on unfavorable terms. Based on
prior experience on seeking funding for drilling on properties without any significant oil production, funding for drilling is
challenging to obtain at all or on affordable terms.
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Additionally, available forms of funding could be highly dilutive to our existing stockholders and may not provide us with
sufficient funds to meet our long-term capital requirements. We may continue to incur substantial costs in the future
in connection with raising capital to fund our business, including investment banking fees, legal fees, accounting fees,
securities law compliance fees, printing and distribution expenses, and other costs. We may also be required to recognize
non-cash expenses in connection with certain securities we may issue, which may adversely affect our financial condition.
If the amount of capital we are able to raise from financing activities, together with our revenues from any acquired
operations, is not sufficient to satisfy our capital needs, we will be required to reduce operating costs, which are already
minimal. That reduction could jeopardize our future strategic initiatives and business plans. We may be required to sell
some or all of our acquired properties (which could be on unfavorable terms), seek joint ventures with one or more strategic
partners, strategic acquisitions, and other strategic alternatives, cease our operations, sell or merge our business, or file a
petition for bankruptcy (either liquidation or reorganization under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code). Any of these actions could
result in investors in the common stock losing their investment or failing to realize any appreciation in the common stock
from the purchase price.

The following table summarizes our total current assets, total current liabilities, and working capital (deficit) as of December
31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

As of As of
Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital surplus (deficit)

Changes in the net cash provided by and (used in) our operating, investing, and financing activities for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, are set forth in the following table:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Cash at beginning of period
Net increase (decrease) in cash

Cash Flows from Operating Activities: Net cash from operating activities is derived from net loss from operations adjusted
for non-cash items, changes in the balances of accounts receivables, deposits, and prepaid expenses, accounts payables,
accrued expenses, and other payables. For the periods ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, net cash used
by operating activities was $117,744 and $26,813, respectively.
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities: Total net cash provided by financing activities was $133,607 and $51,502 for the
periods ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The net increase was derived from the SBA PPP loan program
and the sale of shares.

Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming we will continue as a going concern,
which contemplates realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business for the twelve-
month period following the date of these financial statements. On a consolidated basis, we have incurred significant
operating losses since inception. Because we do not expect that existing operational cash flow will be sufficient to fund
presently anticipated operations, this raises substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore,
we will need to raise additional funds and are currently exploring sources of financing. Historically, we have raised capital
through private offerings of debt and equity and officer loans to finance working capital needs. There can be no assurances
that we will be able to continue to raise additional capital through the sale of common stock or other securities or obtain
short-term loans.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our discussion of financial condition and results of operations is based upon the information reported in our
financial statements. The preparation of these statements requires us to make assumptions and estimates that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as well as the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements. We base our assumptions and estimates on historical
experience and other sources that we believe to be reasonable at the time. Actual results may vary from our
estimates due to changes in circumstances, weather, politics, global economics, mechanical problems, general
business conditions and other factors. Our significant accounting policies and restatements are detailed in Note 1
to our financial statements included in this Annual Report. We have outlined below certain of these policies
as being of particular importance to the portrayal of our financial position and results of operations and which
require the application of significant judgment by our management.
Revenue Recognition. In January 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
2014-09 Revenues from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (“ASU 2014-09”). The timing of recognizing revenue
from the sale of produced crude oil and natural gas was not changed as a result of adopting ASU 2014-09. The
Company predominantly derives its revenue from the sale of produced crude oil and natural gas. The contractual
performance obligation is satisfied when the product is delivered to the customer. Revenue is recorded in
the month the product is delivered to the purchaser. The Company receives payment from one to three months
after delivery. The transaction price includes variable consideration as product pricing is based on published
market prices and reduced for contract specified differentials. The new guidance regarding ASU 2014-09 does not
require that the transaction price be fixed or stated in the
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contract. Estimating the variable consideration does not require significant judgment and the company engages
third party sources to validate the estimates. Revenue is recognized net of royalties due to third parties in
an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products.
See NOTE 14 of our financial statements, including Restatement of Previously issued Financial Statements for
additional information.
On May 9, 2022, the Board of directors of the Company, after discussion with management, determined that the
Company’s previously issued financial statements included in the Original Form 10-K need to be restated, to
among other things, amend the statements used in the Original Form 10-K regarding the method of accounting
it uses. The Restatement below reflects that the Company uses the successful efforts method of accounting
for oil and gas activities. Under this method, the costs of productive exploratory wells, all development wells,
related asset retirement obligation assets and productive leases are capitalized and amortized, principally by
field, on a units-of-production basis over the life of the remaining proved reserves. Exploration costs, including
personnel costs, geological and geophysical expenses and delay rentals for oil and gas leases are charged to
expense as incurred. Exploratory drilling costs are initially capitalized but charged to expense if and when the well
is determined not to have found reserves in commercial quantities. All of our properties are located within the
continental United States.
Write-down of Oil and Natural Gas Properties The Company will review its proved oil and natural gas properties
for impairment whenever events and circumstances indicate that a decline in the recoverability of its carrying
value may have occurred. It will estimate the undiscounted future net cash flows of its oil and natural gas
properties and compares such undiscounted future cash flows to the carrying amount of the oil and natural gas
properties to determine if the carrying amount is recoverable. If the carrying amount exceeds the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows, the Company will adjust the carrying amount of the oil and natural gas properties
to fair value.
Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes are provided for the difference between the tax basis of assets and liabilities
and the carrying amount in our financial statements. This difference will result in taxable income or deductions
in future years when the reported amount of the asset or liability is settled. Since our tax returns are filed after
the financial statements are prepared, estimates are required in valuing tax assets and liabilities. We record
adjustments to the actual values in the period we file our tax returns.
In January 2018, the Company adopted ASU 2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718.) The
Company will use the prospective method to account for current period and future excess tax benefit.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Management does not believe any recently issued but not yet effective accounting pronouncements, if adopted,
would have a material effect on the Company’s present or future financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of CoJax Oil & Gas Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of CoJax Oil & Gas Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2020
and 2019, and the related statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of
the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the financial
statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in
the two-year period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Restatement to Correct 2020 Misstatements

As discussed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the 2020 financial statements have been restated to
correct misstatements.

Consideration of the Company’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going
concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company has recurring net losses, negative cash flows
from operations, and negative working capital. This raises substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2 to the financial statements. The
financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its
internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining,
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
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estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

\s\ Haynie & Company

Haynie & Company
Salt Lake City, Utah
Error! No document variable supplied., except for the effects of the restatement discussed in Note 5, Note 6, Note 9 (first
paragraph), and Note 14 to which the date is May 27, 2022.

We have served as the company’s auditor since 2018
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CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation

Consolidated Balance Sheets (RESTATED)

As of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019
As of As of

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
RESTATED

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash
Total current assets

Other assets:
Barrister property rights
Barrister property asset retirement obligation - net

Total other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES and STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable
Accrued interest payable
Accrued M&A expense payable
Notes payable – PPP
Notes payable – related party
Accrued salaries and payroll taxes

Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:

Barrister asset retirement obligation
Note payable – Barrister acquisition

Total long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Stockholders’ deficit:
Preferred stock, $0.10 par value, 50,000,000 current shares authorized, no
shares issued and outstanding, respectively.
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 300,000,000 current shares authorized,
3,659,001 and 1 shares issued and outstanding, respectively.
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ deficit

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ 44,051 $ 28,189
44,051 28,189

2,700,000 -
79,802 -

2,779,802 -

$ 2,823,853 $ 28,189

$ 17,799 $ 8,890
2,410 329

620,500 -
49,992 -

127,615 62,000
611,714 -

1,430,030 71,219

82,149 -
2,700,000 -
2,782,149 -

4,212,179 71,219

- -

36.590 -

(18,588) 2
(1,406,328) (43,032)

(1,388,326) (43,030)

$ 2,823,853 $ 28,189
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CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the years ending December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Revenues

Expenses:
General & administrative expenses
Operating expenses
Accretion expense

Total expenses

Loss from operations

Other income (expense):
Other income – EIDL grant
Interest expense

Total other income (expense)

Net loss

Net loss per common share - basic and diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
period - basic and diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ - $ -

1,349,653 35,169
10,215 -

2,347 -
1,362,215 35,169

(1,359,868) (35,169)

1,000 -
(2,081) -
(1,081) -

$ (1,363,296) $ (35,169)

$ (3.10) $ (35,169)
440,308 1
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CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ending December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019
Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile Net loss to net cash used in operations:

Amortization of asset retirement obligation
Accounts payable
Accrued M&A expense
Accrued salaries and payroll taxes
Deferred offering costs – write off
Accrued interest payable

Total adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by
operations

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from loans payable – related party
Payments on loans payable – related party
Proceeds from loans payable – SBA PPP loan
Proceeds from sale of common stock

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash
Cash at beginning of period

Cash at end of period

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Note payable – Barrister acquisition
Common stock for Barrister acquisition
Addition of asset retirement obligation
Interest paid, net of capitalized interest

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ (1,363,296) $ (35,169)

2,347
8,909

620,500 -
611,714 -

- 7,000
2,081 (78)

1,245,551 8,356

(117,745) (26,813)

- -

65,615 62,000
- (10,498)

49,992 -
18,000 -

133,607 51,502

15,862 24,689
28,189 3,500

$ 44,051 $ 28,189

$ 2,700,000 $ -
$ - $ -
$ 82,149 $ -
$ - $ 608
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CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Stockholder’s Equity (Deficit) (RESTATED)

For the years ending December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019

Additional Total
Preferred stock Common stock paid-in Accumulated Stockholder’s

Shares Amount Shares Amount capital deficit deficit

Balance, December 31, 2018

Net (loss) for the Year ending
December 31, 2019

Balance, December 31, 2019

Sale of common stock for cash

Shares issued - Barrister acquisition

Net (loss) for the Year ending
December 31, 2020

Balance, December 31, 2020

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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- $ - 1 $ - $ 2 $ (7,863) $ (7,861)

- - - - - (35,169) (35,169)

- $ - 1 $ - $ 2 $ (43,032) $ (43,030)

- - 9,000 90 17,910 - 18,000

- - 3,650,000 36,500 (36,500) - -

- - - - - (1,363,296) (1,363,296)

- $ - 3,659,001 $36,590 $ 18,588 $ (1,406,328) $ (1,388,326)
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CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (RESTATED)

December 31, 2020
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION, NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Organization

CoJax Oil & Gas Corporation, a Virginia corporation (“Company”), was incorporated on November 13, 2017.

Nature of Operations

We are an early development stage company, and we have no revenue generating operations. From November 13, 2017,
we have been engaged in organizational activities and had no revenue generating operations. We intend to acquire
assignments of hydrocarbon revenues and underlying oil and gas exploration and production rights.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (“US GAAP”) which contemplate continuation of the Company as a going concern.

NOTE 2 – GOING CONCERN DISCLOSURE

The Company’s financial statements are prepared using U.S. GAAP applicable to a going concern that contemplates the
realization of assets and liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business. During 2020, the Company has acquired
Barrister Energy with identified proven or probable reserves and correspondingly expects to be generating revenue during
its exploration stage. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to achieve its business plan, raise any
additional capital or secure the additional financing necessary to implement its current operating plan. The accompanying
financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary if the Company is unable to continue as a
going concern.

The Company has yet to achieve profitable operations, expects to incur further losses in the development of its business,
has negative cash flows from operating activities, and is dependent upon future issuances of equity or other financing to
fund ongoing operations, all of which raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to generate future profitable operations
and/or to obtain the necessary financing from shareholders or other sources to meet its obligations and repay its liabilities
arising from normal business operations when they come due. Management has no formal plan in place to address this
concern but considers that the Company will be able to obtain additional funds by equity financing and/or related party
advances, however, there is no assurance of additional funding being available or on acceptable terms, if at all.

NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Significant areas of estimate include the impairment of assets and rates for
amortization, accrued liabilities, future income tax obligations and the inputs used in calculating stock-based compensation
and transactions. Actual results could differ from those estimates and would impact future results of operations and cash
flows.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be
cash equivalents. At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had no cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable will consist primarily of oil and gas sales, net of a valuation allowance for doubtful accounts. As of
December 31, 2020, and the year ended December 31, 2019, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.

Oil and Gas Producing Activities

The Company uses the successful efforts method of accounting for oil and gas activities. Under this method, the costs of
productive exploratory wells, all development wells, related asset retirement obligation assets, and productive leases are
capitalized and amortized, principally by field, on a units-of-production basis over the life of the remaining proved reserves.
Exploration costs, including personnel costs, geological and geophysical expenses, and delay rentals for oil and gas leases
are charged to expense as incurred. Exploratory drilling costs are initially capitalized but charged to expense if and when
the well is determined not to have found reserves in commercial quantities.

Unproved oil and gas properties will be assessed annually to determine whether they have been impaired by the drilling of
dry holes on or near the related acreage or other circumstances, which may indicate a decline in value. When impairment
occurs, a loss will be recognized. When leases for unproved properties expire, the costs thereof, net of any related allowance
for impairment, will be removed from the accounts and charged to expense.

The Company will review its proved oil and natural gas properties for impairment whenever events and circumstances
indicate that a decline in the recoverability of its carrying value may have occurred. It estimates the undiscounted future net
cash flows of its oil and natural gas properties and compares such undiscounted future cash flows to the carrying amount
of the oil and natural gas properties to determine if the carrying amount is recoverable. If the carrying amount exceeds the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows, the Company will adjust the carrying amount of the oil and natural gas properties
to fair value.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets according to the Financial Accounting Standards
Board’s (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 360 “Property, Plant and Equipment”. ASC 360 clarifies the
accounting for the impairment of long- lived assets and for long-
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lived assets to be disposed of, including the disposal of business segments and major lines of business. Long-lived assets
are reviewed when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. When
necessary, impaired assets are written down to estimated fair value based on the best information available. Estimated fair
value is generally based on either appraised value or measured by discounting estimated future cash flows. Considerable
management judgment is necessary to estimate discounted future cash flows. Accordingly, actual results could vary
significantly from such estimates. The Company did not recognize any impairment losses as of December 31, 2020 or
December 31, 2019.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company had no financial instruments for the year ending December 31, 2020 or for the year ending December 31,
2019.

ASC 820 “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received
for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair
value hierarchy that distinguishes between (1) market participant assumptions developed based on market data obtained
from independent sources (observable inputs) and (2) a reporting entity’s own assumptions about market participant
assumptions developed based on the best information available in the circumstances (unobservable inputs). The fair value
hierarchy consists of three broad levels, which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The three levels of the fair
value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted
assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly, including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar
assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or
liability (e.g., interest rates); and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by
correlation or other means; and

Level 3 – Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Fair value estimates discussed herein are based upon certain market assumptions and pertinent information available to
management as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The respective carrying value of certain on-balance-sheet
financial instruments approximated their fair values due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

Revenue Recognition

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, (“ASC 606”). As the Company has no sales, the adoption did not require an adjustment to opening retained
earnings for the cumulative effect adjustment and did not affect the
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Company’s previously reported results of operations, nor its ongoing consolidated and combined balance sheets,
statements of cash flow or statements of changes in equity.

Under ASC 606, oil and natural gas sales revenues are recognized when control of the product is transferred to the customer,
the performance obligations under the terms of the contracts with customers are satisfied and collectability is reasonably
assured. Once operational, all the Company’s oil and natural gas sales will be made under contracts with customers. The
performance obligations for the Company’s contracts with customers will be satisfied at a point in time through the delivery
of oil and natural gas to its customers. Accordingly, the Company’s contracts will not give rise to contract assets or liabilities.
The Company will typically receive payment within 30 days of the month of delivery. The Company’s contracts for oil and
natural gas sales will be standard industry contracts that include variable consideration based on the monthly index price
and adjustments that may include counterparty-specific provisions related to volumes, price differentials, discounts and
other adjustments and deductions.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for Stock-Based Compensation under ASC 718 “Compensation – Stock Compensation”, which
addresses the accounting for transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services, with a
primary focus on transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions. Generally
accepted accounting principles require measurement of the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award
of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award. Incremental compensation costs arising from
subsequent modifications of awards after the grant date must be recognized.

The Company issues stock to consultants for various services. The costs for these transactions are measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measurable. The
value of the common stock is measured at the earlier of (i) the date at which a firm commitment for performance by the
counterparty to earn the equity instruments is reached or (ii) the date at which the counterparty's performance is complete.
The Company recognized consulting expense and a corresponding increase to additional paid- in-capital related to stock
issued for services.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method, future
tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
amounts reported in the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future
tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantially enacted income tax rates expected to apply when the
asset is realized, or the liability settled. The effect of a change in income tax rates on future income tax liabilities and assets
is recognized in income in the period that the change occurs. Future income tax assets are recognized to the extent that
they are considered more likely than not to be realized.

The FASB has issued ASC 740 “Income Taxes”. ASC 740 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in
an enterprise’s financial statements. This standard requires a company to determine whether it is more likely than not that
a tax position will be sustained upon examination based upon the
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technical merits of the position. If the more-likely-than-not threshold is met, a company must measure the tax position to
determine the amount to recognize in the financial statements.

Because of the implementation of this standard, the Company performed a review of its material tax positions in
accordance with recognition and measurement standards established by ASC 740 and concluded that they had no uncertain
tax positions as of December 31, 2020 or as of December 31, 2019.

Basic and Diluted Income per Share

The Company computes income per share in accordance with ASC 260, "Earnings per Share", which requires presentation
of both basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) on the face of the statement of operations. Basic EPS is computed
by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during
the period. Diluted EPS gives effect to all dilutive potential shares of common stock outstanding during the period using
the treasury stock method and convertible preferred stock using the if-converted method. In computing diluted EPS, the
average stock price for the period is used in determining the number of shares assumed to be purchased from the exercise
of stock options or warrants. Diluted EPS excludes all dilutive potential shares if their effect is anti-dilutive. The Company
did not have any dilutive securities as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

NOTE 4 – RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Management does not believe any recently issued but not yet effective accounting pronouncements, if adopted, would
have a material effect on the Company’s present or future financial statements.

NOTE 5 – ACQUISITION (RESTATED)

On November 17, 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of Barrister Energy, LLC and the oil and gas properties
of Barrister Energy, LLC, (the “Acquisition”). The acquired properties consist of 700 gross acres and include a 95% average
working interest and a 79% average net revenue interest.

The Acquisition was recognized as a transaction with entities under common control whereby CoJax recorded the assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed at the historical cost to Barrister as of November 17, 2020. Revenues and related
expenses for the Acquisition are included in our consolidated statement of operations beginning June 16, 2020 which is the
date the Company obtained control of the properties.

The $2.7 million, zero interest, long-term note is payable to Central Operating, LLC at the signing of the Purchase and Sale
Agreement on June 16, 2020. The Acquisition payable to be settled through equity was settled at the closing on November
17, 2020 through the issuance of 3,650,000 shares of common stock. As the acquisition is accounted for as a transaction
under common control and the transfer of assets and liabilities occurs at historical cost, the value of the common stock
has no effect on stockholders’ equity. The Company incurred $620,500 in non-capitalizable acquisition related costs, which
were recognized in general and administrative expense during the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Company will continue to evaluate the fair value of the assets and liabilities reflected above and will record any
adjustments, if needed, in future periods.
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The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed:

Historical Cost of consideration given;

Assets acquired:

Barrister property rights

ARO asset

Liabilities assumed:

Asset retirement obligations

Total Identifiable Net Assets

(Due to the limited operations of Barrister Energy the proforma consolidated results of operations were not considered material
as if the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2019.)

NOTE 6 – LONG LIVED ASSETS (RESTATED)

At December 31, 2020 through the Company’s acquisition of Barrister Energy, LLC had leased oil and gas properties assets
valued at $2,700,000 and at December 31, 2019, the Company had no other long-lived assets.

NOTE 7 – ACCRUED EXPENSES

At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had the following accrued expenses:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Accrued interest

Accrued salaries and payroll taxes

Accrued M&A expenses

Accrued expenses

NOTE 8 – NOTES PAYABLE

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

On May 7, 2020, the Company applied for a Small Business Association (SBA)
loan under the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP). The Company met all the
necessary qualifications to apply for a $49,992 loan. On June 10, 2020, the SBA
PPP loan was approved and transferred to the Company to be used for payment
of accrued payroll and related payroll taxes. We do not expect to be required to
repay any portion of the loan. 100% of the funds were disbursed for salaries and
payroll taxes in 2020.

The $2.7 million long-term note is payable to Central Operating, LLC at the
signing of the Barrister Purchase and Sale Agreement in June 16, 2020.

Notes payable
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$ 2,700,000

82,149

(82,149)

$ 2,700,000

$ 2,410 $ 329

611,714 -

620,500 -

$ 1,234,524 $ 329

$ 49,992 $ -

$ 2,700,000 $ -

$ 2,749,992 $ -
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Related Party

The Company is a party to several loans with related parties. The note holder is the CEO and Executive Chairman of the
Company. At December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, notes payable consisted of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

On September 1, 2019, the Company's Executive Chairman loaned $42,000 to
the Company, and the Company issued a promissory note for such amount. The
promissory note is unsecured and bears interest at 2% per annum principal and
accrued interest mature on February 19, 2022.

On November 15, 2019, the Company's Executive Chairman loaned $20,000 to
the Company, and the Company issued a promissory note for such amount. The
promissory note is unsecured and bears interest at 2% per annum principal and
accrued interest mature on February 19, 2022.

On February 19, 2020, the Company's Executive Chairman loaned $28,400 to
the Company, and the Company issued a promissory note for such amount. The
promissory note is unsecured and bears interest at 2% per annum principal and
accrued interest mature on February 19, 2022.

On July 15, 2020, the Company's Executive Chairman loaned $37,215 to the
Company, and the Company issued a promissory note for such amount. The
promissory note is unsecured and bears interest at 2% per annum principal and
accrued interest mature on July 15, 2022.

Notes payable – related party

NOTE 9 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the year ending December 31, 2020, there were four related party transactions (see NOTE 8) between the Company’s
Executive Chairman and the Company. There were no other related party transactions between any of the Company’s
directors or executive officers or any person nominated or chosen by the Company to become a director or executive officer.

On January 4, 2021 the Company issued 20,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy, the CEO and
10,000 shares of Series A convertible stock to Wm. Barrett Wellman, the CFO. Each share is convertible at the option of the
holder to ten (10) shares of common stock. Since these shares were not issued until 2021 the fair value of $600,000 ($20
per share) has been recorded as part of accrued salaries and payroll taxes. The fair value was based on the value assigned to
common stock ($2 per share) multiplied by 10.

For the year ending December 31, 2019, there were two related party transactions (see NOTE 8) between the Company’s
Executive Chairman and the Company. There were no other related party transactions between any of the Company’s
directors or executive officers or any person nominated or chosen by the Company to become a director or executive officer.
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$ 42,000 $ 42,000

$ 20,000 $ 20,000

$ 28,400 $ -

$ 37,215 $ -

$ 127,615 $ 62,000
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NOTE 10 – STOCKHOLDER’S DEFICIT (RESTATED)

Authorized Capital

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has 300,000,000 authorized shares of Common Stock at $0.01 par value and
50,000,000 authorized shares of Preferred Stock at a par value of $0.10.

Preferred Stock

During the year ending December 31, 2020, the Company accrued 30,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock of
it’s officers (see NOTE 9). During the year ending December 31, 2019, the Company issued no shares of Preferred Stock.

Common Stock

In November, the Company issued 3,650,000 shares as part of the Barrister acquisition. As mentioned in NOTE 5 the
acquisition was accounted for as a transaction under common control and the transfer of assets and liabilities occurs at
historical cost which resulted in no value being allocated to the shares being issued.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 9,000 shares at a share price of $2.00 for cash proceeds.
During the year ending December 31, 2019, no shares of Common Stock were issued.

During the years ending December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company did not repurchase any shares.

The above shares of capital stock are restricted securities under Rule 144 and were issued in reliance on an exemption from
the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

Capital Contributions

During the years ending December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company did not receive any capital contributions.

NOTE 11 – PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

The Company provides for income taxes using the liability method in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740 “Income Taxes”.
Deferred income taxes arise from the differences in the recognition of income and expenses for tax purposes. There were
no deferred tax assets or liabilities at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

Management has reviewed the provisions regarding assessment of their valuation allowance on deferred tax assets and
based on that criteria determined that it would not have sufficient taxable income to realize those assets. Therefore,
management has assessed the realization of the deferred tax assets and has determined that it is more likely than not that
they will not be realized and has provided a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset.

The Company recognizes the financial statement impact of a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax
authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-
than–not threshold, the amount recognized in the consolidated financial
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statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement
with the relevant tax authority.

The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and the state Virginia. The tax regulations within
each jurisdiction are subject to interpretation of related tax laws and regulations and require significant judgment to apply.
The Company is not presently undergoing any tax audits. As of December 31, 2020, the tax years that remain subject to
examination are 2020, 2019, 2018, and 2017 for Federal and 2020, 2019, 2018, and 2017 for state.

The Company will apply the federal and state NOL carry-forward in FY 2020 and later years.

Income Taxes

On December 22, 2017, the United States Government passed new tax legislation that, among other provisions, will lower
the corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%. In addition to applying the new lower corporate tax rate in 2018 and thereafter
to any taxable income we may have, the legislation affects the way we can use and carry forward net operating losses
previously accumulated and results in a revaluation of deferred tax assets recorded on our balance sheet. Given that the
deferred tax assets are offset by a full valuation allowance, these changes have no net impact on the Company’s financial
position and net loss. However, when we become profitable, we will receive a reduced benefit from such deferred tax
assets.

A reconciliation of the income tax provision computed at statutory rates to the reported tax provision is as follows:

Year ended
December 31, 2020

Year ended
December 31, 2019

Federal income tax rate

Loss before income taxes

Non-deductible expenses

Taxable loss

Expected approximate tax recovery on net loss, before income tax

Changes in valuation allowance

Income tax

The component of the Company’s deferred tax asset is as follows:

As of
December 31,

2020

As of December
31, 2019

Deferred income tax assets:

Net operating losses carried forward

Less: valuation allowance

Deferred income tax assets
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21.0% 21.0%

$ 1,363,296 $ 35,169

(600,000) -

$ 763,296 $ 35,169

$ 160,292 $ 7,385

(160,292) (7,385)

$ - $ -

$ 169,328 $ 9,036

(169,328) (9,036)

$ - $ -
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The Company has a valuation allowance against the full amount of its net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of
realization of the deferred tax assets.

At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company has incurred accumulated net operating losses in the United
States of America totaling $798,465 and $43,032 respectively which are available to reduce taxable income in future
taxation years.

NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Lease Commitments

The Company has no lease obligations at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The Company has a month-to-month
rental agreement for an office share in Arlington, Virginia beginning on April 1, 2018 for $50 per month. Additionally, the
Company has no known contingencies as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

Purchase Commitments

The Company has no purchase obligations at December 31, 2020.

Significant Risks and Uncertainties

Concentration of Credit Risk – Cash – The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent balances at a single financial
institution that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000. At December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, the Company had no exposure in excess of insurance.

Concentration of Credit Risk – Accounts Receivable – The Company had no revenue generating operations and therefore no
accounts receivable as of the date of these financial statements.

Legal Matters

During the course of business, litigation commonly occurs. From time to time, the Company may be a party to
litigation matters involving claims against the Company. The Company operates in a highly regulated industry
and employs personnel, which may inherently lend itself to legal matters. Management is aware that litigation
has associated costs and that results of adverse litigation verdicts could have a material effect on the Company's
financial position or results of operations.

There are no known legal proceedings against the Company or its officers and directors in their capacity as officers
and directors of the Company.

COVID-19

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak a "Public Health
Emergency of International Concern" and on March 10, 2020, declared it to be a pandemic. Actions taken around
the world to help mitigate the spread of the coronavirus include restrictions on travel, and quarantines in certain
areas, and forced closures for certain types of public places and businesses. The coronavirus and actions taken
to mitigate it have had and are expected to continue to have an adverse impact on the economies and financial
markets of many countries, including the geographical area in which the Company operates. While it is unknown
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how long these conditions will last and what the complete financial effect will be to the company, to date, the
Company is not expecting to experience any adverse effects other than:

Difficulty in communicating with potential acquisition targets.

Fund-raising events may be limited.

Additionally, it is possible that estimates made in the financial statements have been, or will be, materially and
adversely impacted in the near term as a result of these conditions, including the ability to raise additional
funding.

NOTE 13 – ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

The Company provides for the obligation to plug and abandon oil and gas wells at the dates properties are either acquired or
the wells are drilled. The asset retirement obligation is adjusted each quarter for any liabilities incurred or settled during the
period, accretion expense and any revisions made to the estimated cash flows. The asset retirement obligation incurred at
the time of drilling was computed using the annual credit-adjusted risk-free discount rate at the applicable dates. Changes
in the asset retirement obligation were as follows:

Balance, December 31, 2019
Liabilities acquired
Liabilities incurred
Liabilities settled
Accretion expense
Balance, December 31, 2020

NOTE 14 – RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUSLY ISSUED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On May 13, 2021, the Company filed with the SEC the Original Form 10-K, together with all exhibits thereto, which included
consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2020. On May 9, 2022, the management of the Company concluded
the December 31, 2020, consolidated financial statements included in the Original Form 10-K should no longer be relied
upon because of an error related to classification of the Acquisition as a business combination and that the properties were
acquired at the fair value of purchase consideration, including the common shares issued and debt assumed. The errors
were deemed material to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, and resulted in
restatements more fully described below.

The Company will write down the Acquisition amount from $10,000,000 to $2,700,000, the historical cost to Barrister. The
Acquisition is deemed an asset acquisition.

Summary of changes to the original 10-K financial statements:

As filed with the
original Adjustment Restated as filed with

Amendment One

Balance Sheet

Barrister property rights - Asset

Common stock

70

1.

2.

$ -
82,149

-
-

(2,347)
$ 79,802

$ 10,000,000 $ (7,300,000) $ 2,700,000

$ 36,590 $ - $ 36,590

Copyright © 2022 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Additional paid-in capital

Statements of Stockholders Deficit

Shares Issued – Barrister Acquisition – at Par Value

Shares issued – Barrister Acquisition – Additional
Paid-in Capital

NOTE 15 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has evaluated all events that occurred after the balance sheet date through the date when the
financial statements were issued to determine if they must be reported. The management of the Company
determined that there no reportable subsequent events to be disclosed beyond the following:

Issuance of Common Shares

On January 4, 2021 the company issued 310,250 shares of common stock to Newbridge Securities Corporation in settlement
of $620,500 in M&A fees for the Barrister acquisition.

On February 23, 2021 the company issued 42,500 shares of common stock to various vendors in settlement of $85,000 in
strategic consulting fees.

On February 23, 2021 the company issued 15,000 shares of common stock to various vendors in settlement of $30,000 in
board consulting fees.

On February 23, 2021 the company issued 42,500 shares of common stock to various vendors in settlement of $85,000 in
accounting consulting fees.

During the first quarter of 2021 the company issued 17,500 shares of common stock for sale of shares for cash.

Issuance of Common Shares to Officers

On January 4, 2021 the Company issued 5,000 shares of common stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy, the CEO.

On January 4, 2021 the Company issued 5,000 shares of common stock to Wm. Barrett Wellman, the CFO.

Issuance of Preferred Shares to Officers

On January 4, 2021 the Company issued 20,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock to Jeffrey J. Guzy, the CEO.
Each share is convertible at the option of the holder to ten (10) shares of common stock

On January 4, 2021 the Company issued 10,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock to Wm. Barrett Wellman, the
CFO. Each share is convertible at the option of the holder to ten (10) shares of common stock

Oil Price Fluctuations and Uncertainty

Our financial results depend on many factors, particularly the price of natural gas and crude oil and our ability to
market our production on economically attractive terms. Commodity prices are affected by many factors outside
of our control, including changes in market supply and demand,
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which are impacted by weather conditions, pipeline capacity constraints, inventory storage levels, basis
differentials and other factors. As a result, we cannot accurately predict future commodity prices and, therefore,
we cannot determine with any degree of certainty what effect increases or decreases in these prices will have on
our drilling program, production volumes or revenues.

The recent oscillations in the price of oil will force us to re-evaluate our current acquisition strategy as the price of
natural gas and oil fluctuate in the future. We expect oil and natural gas to remain volatile. The ability to find and
develop sufficient amounts of natural gas and crude oil reserves at economical costs are critical to our long-term
success of the Company.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in our reports under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to
our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosures. In designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was
required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures.
The design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood

of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential
future conditions. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable,
not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the
period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation and subject to the foregoing, our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer concluded that, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31,
2020 due to the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described below.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of its principal executive and
principal financial officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of its consolidated financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Material Weaknesses in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2020 based on the framework established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
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Based on this assessment, management has determined that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2020 was not effective.

A material weakness, as defined in the standards established by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-
Oxley Act”), is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis.

The ineffectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was due to the following material
weaknesses:

Inadequate segregation of duties consistent with control objectives;
Lack of formal policies and procedures;
Lack of a functioning audit committee and independent directors on the Company’s board of directors to oversee
financial reporting responsibilities; and
Lack of risk assessment procedures on internal controls to detect financial reporting risks on a timely manner.

Management’s Plan to Remediate the Material Weakness

Management has been implementing and continues to implement measures designed to ensure that control
deficiencies contributing to the material weakness are remediated, such that these controls are designed, implemented,
and operating effectively. The remediation actions planned include:

Continue to search for and evaluate qualified independent outside directors;
Identify gaps in our skills base and the expertise of our staff required to meet the financial reporting requirements
of a public company; and
Continue to develop policies and procedures on internal control over financial reporting and monitor the
effectiveness of operations on existing controls and procedures.

We are committed to maintaining a strong internal control environment, and believe that these remediation
efforts will deliver improvements in our control environment. Our management will continue to monitor and evaluate
the relevance of our risk-based approach and the effectiveness of our internal controls and procedures over financial
reporting on an ongoing basis and is committed to taking further action and implementing additional enhancements or
improvements, as necessary and as funds allow.

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by
the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission that permit the Company to provide only management’s report in this Annual Report, which may increase the
risk that weaknesses or deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting go undetected.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our fourth fiscal quarter
that have materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Executive Officers and Directors

The following table sets forth information regarding our current directors and executive officers:

Name Age Position

Jeffrey J. Guzy 69 Chief Executive Officer, Director

Wm. Barrett Wellman 73 Chief Financial Officer

Our directors hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders of the Company and until their successors have been
elected and qualified. Our officers are elected by the Board and serve at the discretion of the Board.

Biographies

Mr. Guzy, age 69, has been our Chief Executive Officer since January 22, 2020 and a director since November 17,
2017. He served as our Chief Financial Officer from November 17, 2017 through March 16, 2020.

Mr. Guzy has served as an outside director of Leatt Corp. (OTC Trading Symbol: LEAT), since April 2007. Mr. Guzy also served,
from October 2007 to August 2010, as Leatt Corp’s President. Mr. Guzy has served as an executive manager or consultant
for business development, sales, customer service, and management in the telecommunications industry, specifically, with
IBM Corp., Sprint International, Bell Atlantic Video Services, Loral CyberStar, and FaciliCom International. Mr. Guzy has also
started his own telecommunications company providing Internet services in Western Africa. He serves as an independent
director and chairman of the audit committee of Capstone Companies, Inc. (OTC Trading Symbol: CAPC), Since 2020, he
also serves as an independent director of Brownies Marine Group, Inc. (OTC Trading Symbol: BWMG). Mr. Guzy has an MBA
in Strategic Planning and Management from The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, an M.S. in Systems
Engineering from the University of Pennsylvania; a B.S. in Electrical Engineering from Penn State University; and a Certificate
in Theology from Georgetown University. Mr. Guzy’s management and extensive experience led to the conclusion that he
should serve as a director.

Mr. Wellman, age 73, has been our Chief Financial Officer since March 16, 2020. Mr. Wellman has over 40 years
of business experience as an accountant, controller, chief financial officer, chief information officer, and senior executive
for various companies and two large accounting firms. Since 2006, Mr. Wellman has maintained a business and financial
consulting business in Arlington, Virginia. He has an MBA from Marshall University and a B.S. in Accounting from the
University of Charleston.

Significant Employee

Jeffrey Delancey, age 49, was our Chief Executive Officer until his resignation on January 21, 2020. He has twenty-nine years
of direct oilfield operating experience. For the last seventeen years, Mr. Delancey
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participates as a working interest owner in various oil and gas projects throughout the southeast giving him knowledge and
expertise in the investment aspects of the oil and gas business.

Board Committees

We currently do not have any committees of our Board of Directors.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships among any of our officers or directors.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal executive, financial and
accounting officers (or persons performing similar functions) and a copy of such Code is filed as Exhibit 14.1 to this Annual
Report.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

To our knowledge, our directors and executive officers have not been involved in any of the following events during the past
ten years:

any bankruptcy petition filed by or against such person or any business of which such person was a general partner
or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time;
any conviction in a criminal proceeding or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic
violations and other minor offenses);
being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court
of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from or otherwise limiting his involvement in
any type of business, securities or banking activities or to be associated with any person practicing in banking or
securities activities;
being found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action, the SEC or the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission to have violated a Federal or state securities or commodities law, and the judgment has not been
reversed, suspended, or vacated;
being subject of, or a party to, any Federal or state judicial or administrative order, judgment decree, or finding, not
subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, relating to an alleged violation of any Federal or state securities or
commodities law or regulation, any law or regulation respecting financial institutions or insurance companies, or
any law or regulation prohibiting mail or wire fraud or fraud in connection with any business entity; or
being subject of or party to any sanction or order, not subsequently reversed, suspended, or vacated, of any self-
regulatory organization, any registered entity or any equivalent exchange, association, entity or organization that
has disciplinary authority over its members or persons associated with a member.
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Compensation of Directors

2020 Director Compensation Table

Name

Fees
Earned
or Paid
in Cash

Stock
Awards

Option
Awards

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings

All Other
Compensation Total

Jeffry J. Guzy 2020
2019

Jeffrey Delancey(1) 2020
2019

Mr. Delancey was a director from May 18, 2018 through January 21, 2020.

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, no compensation has been paid to our directors in consideration
for their services rendered in their capacities as directors.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

There are no current outstanding equity awards to our executive officers as of December 31, 2020.

Long-Term Incentive Plans

There are no arrangements or plans in which we provide pension, retirement or similar benefits for directors or
executive officers.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth information concerning all cash and non-cash compensation awarded to, earned by
or paid to our Chief Executive Officer and the other executive officer with compensation exceeding $100,000 during 2020
and 2019 (each a “Named Executive Officer”).

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Name and Principal Position Year Salary
($)

Bonus
($)

Option Awards
($)(2)

All Other
Compensation ($)

Total
($)

Jeffrey J. Guzy(1) 2020

2019

Wm. Barrett Wellman (2) 2020

(1) Mr. Guzy was appointed Chief Executive Officer on January 22, 2020. Jeffrey Guzy has a base annual salary of $120,000, payable on a semi-monthly
basis in equal installments, but the base salary is deferred until the Company has sufficient cash flow to pay the base salary. Further, the base salary
can either be paid in total when Company is adequately funded, or the accrued unpaid base salary can be converted into shares of the CoJax Common
Stock at the lower conversion price of the initial public offering price of $2.00 or current market price at the time of conversion by Mr. Guzy.
(2) Mr. Wellman was appointed Chief Financial Officer on March 16, 2020. Mr. Wellman’s base salary is $100,000, payable semi-monthly in equal
installments, but the base salary is deferred until the Company has sufficient cash flow to pay the base salary. Alternatively, the accrued unpaid base
salary can be converted into shares of the CoJax Common Stock at the lower conversion price of the initial public offering price of $2.00 or current
market price at the time of conversion by Mr. Wellman.
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Employment Agreements with Key Executives

Jeffrey Guzy’s employment agreement dated January 24, 2020 provides, in part, for:

the term of the employment agreement is three years;
a base annual salary of $120,000 payable semi-monthly in equal installments, but the base salary is deferred and
only will be paid when Company is adequately funded, or the accrued unpaid base salary can be converted into
shares of the CoJax Common Stock at the lower conversion price of the initial public offering price of $2.00 or
current market price at the time of conversion by Mr. Guzy;
Mr. Guzy is eligible for an ad hoc performance bonus if and in an amount approved by the disinterested directors
when and if CoJax appoints disinterested directors;
Mr. Guzy may participate in any incentive compensation and other benefit plans to the extent that he is eligible to
do so;
continuation of Mr. Guzy’s under Company’s health insurance and other benefit plans for 24 months after any
termination of his employment for a good reason (as defined in the employment agreement);
imposes confidentiality and non-recruitment of Company employees obligations on Mr. Guzy for one year after the
end of employment;
the employment agreement provides that the Company can terminate Mr. Guzy’s employment for cause (as defined
in the employment agreement) and for Mr. Guzy to terminate the employment agreement for “good reason” (as
defined in the employment agreement); and
If Mr. Guzy terminates the employment for a good reason, then he would be entitled to: A cash payment, payable
in equal installments over a six (6) month period after Mr. Guzy terminates employment, equal to the sum of the
following:

Base Annual Salary. Subject to the payment of the following sums not causing the insolvency of the Company, the
equivalent of the greater of (i) twenty-four (24) months of Mr. Guzy’s then-current base salary or (ii) the remainder of the
term of the employment agreement (the "Severance Period"); plus

Earned but Unpaid Amounts. Any previously earned but unpaid salary through Mr. Guzy’s final date of employment, being
Mr. Guzy’s termination of employment.

Further, the employment agreement also provides the following indemnification to Mr. Guzy: CoJax shall indemnify and
save harmless Mr. Guzy for any liability incurred by reason of any act or omission performed by Mr. Guzy while acting in
good faith on behalf of the Company. Within the scope of the authority of his pursuant to the employment agreement
and the fullest extent provided under the CoJax Bylaws, the CoJax Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and
the Virginia Stock Corporation Act, except that Mr. Guzy must have in good faith believed that such action was in, or not
opposed to, the best interests of CoJax, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to
believe that such conduct was unlawful. No indemnification barred by regulations or policies of the SEC or in clear violation
of public policy will be permitted under the employment agreement.

Wm. Barrett Wellman’s employment agreement, dated March 16, 2020, provides for:

CoJax signed an employment agreement for Mr. Wellman's services as Chief Financial Officer on March 16, 2020. Under
the employment agreement:

the term of the employment agreement is 3 years;

a base annual salary of $100,000 payable semi-annually in equal installments, but the base salary can either be paid
in total when CoJax is adequately funded or, alternatively, the accrued unpaid
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base salary can be converted into shares of the CoJax common stock at the lower conversion price of the initial
public offering price of $2.00 or current market price at time of conversion by Mr. Wellman;

Mr. Wellman is eligible for an ad hoc performance bonus if and in an amount approved by the disinterested
directors;

Mr. Wellman may participate in any incentive compensation and other benefit plans to the extent that he is eligible
to do so;

continuation of Mr. Wellman’s benefits under CoJax’s health insurance and other benefit plans for 24 months after
any termination of his employment for good reason (as defined in the employment agreement);

imposes confidentiality and non-recruitment of Company employees obligations on Mr. Wellman for one year after
end of employment, and

the employment agreement provides for CoJax to terminate Mr. Wellman’s employment for cause (as defined in
the employment agreement) and for Mr. Wellman to terminate the employment agreement for ”good reason” (as
defined in the employment agreement).

Mr. Wellman’s unpaid base salary is deferred if unpaid at the time due.

If Mr. Wellman terminates the employment for a good reason, then he would be entitled to: A cash payment, payable
in equal installments over a six (6) month period after Mr. Wellman terminates employment, equal to the sum of the
following:

Base Annual Salary. Subject to the payment of the following sums subject to not causing the insolvency of the Company, the
equivalent of the greater of (i) twenty-four (24) months of Mr. Wellman’s then-current base salary or (ii) the remainder of
the term of the employment agreement (the "Severance Period"); plus

Earned but Unpaid Amounts. Any previously earned but unpaid salary through Mr. Wellman’s final date of employment, Mr.
Wellman’s termination of employment.

The employment agreement also provides the following indemnification to Mr. Wellman: The Company shall indemnify
and save harmless Mr. Wellman for any liability incurred by reason of any act or omission performed by Mr. Wellman
while acting in good faith on behalf of the Company. Within the scope of the authority of his pursuant to the employment
agreement and the fullest extent provided under the CoJax Bylaws, the CoJax Amended and Restated Articles of
Incorporation and the Virginia Stock Corporation Act, except that Mr. Wellman must have in good faith believed that such
action was in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding,
had no reasonable cause to believe that such conduct was unlawful. No indemnification barred by regulations or policies
of the SEC or in clear violation of public policy will be permitted under the employment agreement.

Director Compensation

Our sole director did not receive any compensation for his role as a director for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company currently has no employee benefit plans.

80

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

Copyright © 2022 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


2018 Equity Incentive Plan

CoJax’s Board of Directors and stockholder approved the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan on December 31, 2018 (“2018 Plan”),
which replaced the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (“2017 Plan”) that was approved by the Board of Directors and stockholder
on January 2, 2018. The Board of Directors terminated the 2017 Plan on December 31, 2018. No options or awards were
granted under the 2017 Plan.

No options or other incentive compensation has been granted as of the date of this prospectus.

The following is a summary of the 2018 Plan:

2018 Plan Purpose. The 2018 Plan will allow us to grant equity awards, including performance awards, to incentivize
high levels of performance and productivity by individuals who provide services to us and to further align the interests of
our employees with those of CoJax and its stockholders. The use of our common stock as part of our compensation program
is intended to foster a pay-for-performance culture that is an essential element of our overall compensation philosophy.
Our equity will be used to retain our officers and other employees and promote a focus on sustained enhancement through
improved performance. The 2018 Plan is intended to be “performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the
Internal Revenue Code (“Section 162(m)”), to be exempt from the tax deduction limits of Section 162(m) if they meet the
other requirements of Section 162(m).

2018 Plan Administration. The Board of Directors, or the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors when
formed by the Board of Directors, has the authority to administer our 2018 Plan. Subject to the terms of the 2018 Plan, the
Board of Directors or the authorized board committee, referred to as the “plan administrator,” determines recipients, dates
of grant, the numbers and types of stock awards to be granted, and the terms and conditions of the stock awards, including
the period of their exercisability and vesting schedule applicable to a stock award. Subject to the limitations set forth below,
the plan administrator will also determine the exercise price, strike price, or purchase price of awards granted and the types
of consideration to be paid for the award. The plan administrator has the authority to modify outstanding awards under our
2018 Plan. Subject to the terms of our 2018 Plan, the plan administrator has the authority, without stockholder approval,
to reduce the exercise, purchase or strike price of any outstanding stock award, cancel any outstanding stock award in
exchange for new stock awards, cash, or other consideration, or take any other action that is treated as a repricing under
generally accepted accounting principles; provided, that, stockholders must approve any repricing of SAR’s.

2018 Plan Share Reserve. Three million shares of common stock are reserved for issuance under grants or awards
made pursuant to the 2018 Plan. If a stock award granted under our 2018 Plan expires or otherwise terminates without
being exercised in full, or is settled in cash, the shares of our common stock not acquired pursuant to the stock award again
will become available for subsequent issuance under our 2018 Plan. The following types of shares under our 2018 Plan may
become available for the grant of new stock awards under our 2018 Plan: (1) shares that are forfeited to or repurchased
by us before becoming fully vested; (2) shares withheld to satisfy income or employment withholding taxes; or (3) shares
used to pay the exercise or purchase price of a stock award. Shares issued under our 2018 Plan may be previously unissued
shares or reacquired shares bought by us on the open market.

2018 Plan Stock Awards. Our 2018 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options (within the meaning of
Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, (“Code”)), non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation
rights, or SARs, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards,
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performance-based stock awards and other forms of equity compensation, which are collectively referred to as stock
awards. Our 2018 Plan also provides for the grant of performance cash awards. Incentive stock options may be granted
only to employees. All other awards may be granted to employees, including officers, and to non-employee directors and
consultants. Incentive and non-statutory stock options are evidenced by stock option agreements adopted by the plan
administrator. The plan administrator determines the exercise price for a stock option, within the terms and conditions of
our 2018 Plan, provided that the exercise price of a stock option generally cannot be less than 100% of the fair market
value of our common stock on the date of grant. Options granted under our 2018 Plan vest at the rate specified by the
plan administrator. The plan administrator determines the term of stock options granted under our 2018 Plan, up to a
maximum of ten years. Unless the terms of an option holder’s stock option agreement provide otherwise, if an option
holder’s service relationship with us, or any of our affiliates, ceases for any reason other than disability, death, or cause,
the option holder may generally exercise any vested options for three months following the cessation of service. The option
term will automatically be extended in the event that exercise of the option following such a termination of service is
prohibited by applicable securities laws or our insider trading policy.
Acceptable consideration for the purchase of common stock issued upon the exercise of a stock option will be determined
by the plan administrator and may include (1) cash, check, bank draft, or money order, (2) a broker-
assisted cashless exercise, (3) the tender of shares of our common stock previously owned by the option holder, (4) a
net exercise of the option if it is a nonqualified stock option and (5) other legal consideration approved by the plan
administrator.
Unless the plan administrator provides otherwise, options generally are not transferable except by will, the laws of descent
and distribution, or pursuant to a domestic relations order.

Tax Limitations on Incentive Stock Options. The aggregate fair market value, determined at the time of grant, of our
common stock with respect to incentive stock options that are exercisable for the first time by an option holder during any
calendar year under all of our stock plans, may not exceed $100,000. Options or portions thereof that exceed such limit will
be treated as nonqualified stock options. No incentive stock option may be granted to any person who, at the time of the
grant, owns or is deemed to own stock possessing more than 10% of our total combined voting power or that of any of our
affiliates unless (1) the option exercise price is at least 110% of the fair market value of the stock subject to the option on
the date of grant and (2) the term of the incentive stock option does not exceed five years from the date of grant.

Restricted Stock Awards. Restricted stock awards are evidenced by restricted stock award agreements adopted by
the plan administrator. Restricted stock awards may be granted in consideration for (1) cash, check, bank draft or money
order, (2) services rendered to us or our affiliates, or (3) any other form of legal consideration. Common stock acquired
under a restricted stock award may, but need not, be subject to a share repurchase option in our favor in accordance
with a vesting schedule as determined by the plan administrator. Rights to acquire shares under a restricted stock award
may be transferred only upon such terms and conditions as set by the plan administrator. Except as otherwise provided in
the applicable award agreement, restricted stock unit awards that have not vested will be forfeited upon the participant’s
cessation of continuous service for any reason.

Restricted Stock Unit Awards. Restricted stock unit awards evidenced by restricted stock unit award agreements
adopted by the plan administrator. Restricted stock unit awards may be granted in consideration for any form of legal
consideration or no consideration. A restricted stock unit award may
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be settled by cash, delivery of stock, a combination of cash and stock as deemed appropriate by the plan administrator,
or in any other form of the consideration set forth in the restricted stock unit award agreement. Additionally, dividend
equivalents may be credited in respect of shares covered by a restricted stock unit award. Rights under a restricted stock
units award may be transferred only upon such terms and conditions as set by the plan administrator. Restricted stock unit
awards may be subject to vesting as determined by the plan administrator. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable
award agreement, restricted stock units that have not vested will be forfeited upon the participant’s cessation of continuous
service for any reason.

Stock Appreciation Rights or “SARs.” SARs are evidenced by SAR grant agreements adopted by the plan
administrator. The plan administrator determines the strike price for a SAR, which generally cannot be less than 100% of
the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Upon the exercise of a SAR, we will pay the participant
an amount in cash or stock equal to (1) the excess of the per-share fair market value of our common stock on the date of
exercise over the strike price, multiplied by (2) the number of shares of common stock with respect to which the SAR is
exercised. A SAR granted under our 2018 Plan vests at the rate specified in the SAR agreement as determined by the plan
administrator.

The plan administrator determines the term of SARs granted under our 2018 Plan, up to a maximum of ten years. Unless
the terms of a participant’s SAR agreement provides otherwise, if a participant’s service relationship with us or any of our
affiliates ceases for any reason other than cause, disability, or death, the participant may generally exercise any vested SAR
for a period of three months following the cessation of service. The SARs’ term will be further extended in the event that
applicable securities laws prohibit the exercise of the SAR following such a termination of service. In no event may a SAR be
exercised beyond the expiration of its term.

Unless the plan administrator provides otherwise, SARs generally are not transferable except by will, the laws of descent
and distribution, or pursuant to a domestic relations order. A SAR holder may designate a beneficiary, however, who may
exercise the SAR following the holder’s death.

Performance Awards. Our 2018 Plan permits the grant of performance-based stock and cash awards. Our
compensation committee can structure such awards so that stock or cash will be issued or paid pursuant to such award
only after the achievement of certain pre-established performance goals during a designated performance period. The plan
administrator determines the performance goals. The performance goals may be based on company-wide performance
or performance of one or more business units, divisions, affiliates, or business segments. They may be either absolute or
relative to the performance of one or more comparable companies or the performance of one or more relevant indices.

Other Stock Awards. The plan administrator may grant other awards based in whole or in part by reference to
our common stock. The plan administrator will set the number of shares under the stock award and all other terms and
conditions of such awards.

Changes to Capital Structure. In the event that there is a specified type of change in our capital structure, such
as a stock split or recapitalization, appropriate adjustments will be made to (1) the class and maximum number of shares
reserved for issuance under our 2018 Plan, (2) the class and maximum number of shares by which the share reserve may
increase each year automatically, (3) the class and maximum number of shares that may be issued upon the exercise
of incentive stock options and (4) the class and number of shares and exercise price, strike price or purchase price, if
applicable, of all outstanding stock awards.
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Change in Control. The plan administrator may provide, in an individual award agreement or any other written
agreement between a participant and us, that the stock award will be subject to additional acceleration of vesting and
exercisability or settlement in the event of a change in control. Under our 2018 Plan, a change in control is generally (1) the
acquisition by a person or entity of more than 50% of our combined voting power other than by merger, consolidation
or similar transaction, (2) a consummated merger, consolidation, or similar transaction immediately after which our
stockholders cease to own more than 50% of the combined voting power of the surviving entity or (3) a consummated sale,
lease or exclusive license or other disposition of all or substantially all of our consolidated assets.

Amendment and Termination. Board of Directors has the authority to amend, suspend or terminate our 2018 Plan,
provided that such action does not materially impair the existing rights of any participant without such participant’s written
consent and provided further that certain types of amendments will require the approval of stockholders. No incentive
stock options may be granted after the tenth anniversary of the date that the Board of Directors adopts the 2018 Plan.

Outstanding Equity Awards

There are no outstanding equity awards as of December 31, 2020.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The following table lists, as of May 13, 2021, the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by (i)
each person, entity or group (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) known to the
Company to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the outstanding common stock; (ii) each of our directors (iii) each
of our Named Executive Officers and (iv) all executive officers and directors as a group. Information relating to beneficial
ownership of common stock by our principal stockholders and management is based upon information furnished by each
person using “beneficial ownership” concepts under the rules of the SEC. Under these rules, a person is deemed to be a
beneficial owner of a security if that person directly or indirectly has or shares voting power, which includes the power to
vote or direct the voting of the security, or investment power, which includes the power to dispose or direct the disposition
of the security. The person is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any security of which that person has a right to
acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days. Under the SEC rules, more than one person may be deemed to be a beneficial
owner of the same securities, and a person may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of securities as to which he or she may
not have any pecuniary interest. Except as noted below, each person has sole voting and investment power with respect to
the shares beneficially owned and each stockholder’s address is c/o CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, 3033 Wilson Boulevard,
Suite E-605, Arlington, Virginia 22201.

The percentages below are calculated based on 4,096,751 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of
May 13, 2021.

Name of Beneficial Owner Shares Percentage
Executive Officers and Directors:
Jeffrey J. Guzy (1)
Wm. Barret Wellman (2)
Total (2 persons)

84

5,001 0.12%
5,000 0.12%

Copyright © 2022 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Roger Allums McLeod
Jeffrety Wayne Delancy (3)
Lamar Resources, LLC (4)
Sandstone Group Corp

Does not include 20,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. Each share of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible
at the option of the holder thereof to ten (10) shares of common stock.
Does not include 10,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. Each share of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible
at the option of the holder thereof to ten (10) shares of common stock.
Jeffrey Delancey was Chief Executive Officer and a Director of CoJax from May 18, 2019 until January 21, 2020. Mr. Delancey voluntarily
resigned to pursue other interests.

(4) Lamar Resources, LLC, is owned by Marty Rutland.

Changes in Control Agreements.

As of December 31, 2020, we are not aware of any arrangements that may result in “changes in control”, as that
term is defined by the provisions of Item 403(c) of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

In addition to the executive officer compensation arrangements discussed in “Executive Compensation,” below
we describe transactions since incorporation, to which we have been a participant, in which the amount involved in the
transaction is material to our Company and in which any of the following is a party:

enterprises that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control or are controlled by, or are
under common control with, our Company;
associates;
individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of our Company that gives them
significant influence over our Company, and close members of any such individual’s family;
key management personnel, that is, those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of our Company, including directors and senior management of companies and
close members of such individuals’ families; and
enterprises in which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or indirectly, by any person
described in (c) or (d) or over which such a person is able to exercise significant influence.

Review, Approval and Ratification of Related Party Transactions

Given our small size and limited financial resources, we have not adopted formal policies and procedures for the
review, approval or ratification of transactions, such as those described above, with our executive officer(s), Director(s)
and significant stockholders. We intend to establish formal policies and procedures in the future, once we have sufficient
resources and have appointed additional Directors, so that such transactions will be subject to the review, approval or
ratification of our Board of Directors, or an appropriate committee thereof. On a moving forward basis, our Directors will
continue to approve any related party transaction.
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Legal Proceedings

We know of no material, active, pending or threatened proceeding against us or our subsidiaries, nor are we, or
any subsidiary, involved as a plaintiff or defendant in any material proceeding or pending litigation.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Audit and Accounting Fees

The Board of the Company has appointed Haynie & Company. CPAs PC (“Haynie”) as our independent registered
public accounting firm for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. The following table sets forth the fees billed to the
Company for professional services rendered by Haynie for each of the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Services 2020 2019
Audit fees
Audit related fees
Tax fees
All other fees
Total fees

Audit Fees

The aggregate audit fees billed and unbilled for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were for
professional services rendered by Haynie for the audits of our annual consolidated financial statements, the audit of our
consolidated financial statements included in our registration statement on Form S-1 and the Form 10-K.

Tax Fees

The Company did not incur any aggregate tax fees billed and unbilled for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019.

Other Fees

The Company did not incur any other fees related to services rendered by our principal accountant for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Effective May 6, 2003, the Securities and Exchange Commission adopted rules that require that before our auditor
is engaged by us to render any auditing or permitted non-audit related service, the engagement be:

approved by our audit committee; or
entered into pursuant to pre-approval policies and procedures established by the audit committee, provided that
the policies and procedures are detailed as to the particular service, the audit committee is informed of each
service, and such policies and procedures do not include delegation of the audit committee’s responsibilities to
management.
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We do not have an audit committee. Our entire board of directors pre-approves all services provided by our independent
auditors.

All of the above services and fees were reviewed and approved by the entire board of directors before the respective
services were rendered.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following exhibits are included with this Annual Report:

Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form
S-1 Registration Statement filed with the Commission on July 26, 2019)

3.1.1
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation dated December 22, 2017
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 to the Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the Commission
on July 26, 2019)

3.1.2

Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation with the
Designation of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value per share, dated January 23, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
January 31, 2020)

3.1.3
Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation dated June
12, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.2 to the Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the
Commission on September 25, 2020)

3.2 By-Laws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the
Commission on July 26, 2019)

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form S-1 Registration
Statement filed with the Commission on July 26, 2019)

10.1 Employment Agreement between CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation and Jeffrey J. Guzy (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 22, 2020)

10.2
Employment Agreement by CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation and Jeffrey Delancey dated May 15, 2018
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the Commission on
July 26, 2019)

10.3
Acquisition Agreement, dated June 16, 2020, by and among CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, Barrister Energy,
LLC and all of the Members of Barrister Energy, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Form 8-K
filed with the Commission on June 22, 2020)

10.4 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Form S-1 Registration Statement
filed with the Commission on July 26, 2019)

10.5 Purchase and Sale Agreement dated June 1, 2019, between Barrister Energy, LLC, and Central Operating, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 22, 2020)

10.6
Investment Banking/Corp Advisory Agreement by Newbridge Securities Corporation and CoJax Oil and Gas
Corporation, dated March 14, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Form S-1 Registration
Statement filed with the Commission on July 26, 2019)

10.7 Employment Agreement by CoJax Oil and Gas Corp. and Wm. Barrett Wellman, dated March 16, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed with Commission on March 23, 2020)
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10.8
Promissory Note, dated June 1, 2019, issued by Barrister Energy, LLC pursuant to the Purchase and Sale
Agreement dated June 1, 2019, with Central Operating, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to the
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 22, 2020)

10.9
Assignment and Assumption of Promissory Note, dated June 16, 2020, by CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation and
Barrister Energy, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.4 to the Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
June 22, 2020)

10.10 Restricted Stock Grant Agreement dated January 4, 2021, by CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation and Jeffrey
Guzy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 7, 2021)

10.11
Restricted Stock Grant Agreement dated January 4, 2021, by CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation and Wm. Barrett
Wellman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 7,
2021)

14 Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14 to the Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the
Commission on July 26, 2019)

31.1* Certification of Jeffrey J. Guzy, Chief Executive Officer and President of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2* Certification of Wm. Barrett Wellman, Chief Financial Officer of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1* Certification of Jeffrey J. Guzy, Chief Executive Officer and President of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2* Certification of Wm. Barrett Wellman, Chief Financial Officer of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.2 Barrister Energy, LLC Oil Leases (incorporated by referend to Exhibit 99.2 to the Form 10-K filed with the
Commission on May 13, 2021)

* Filed herewith

ITEM 16. FORM 10–K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

COJAX OIL AND GAS CORPORATION

By: /s/ Jeffrey J. Guzy
Jeffrey J. Guzy
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: May 27, 2022

By: /s/ Wm. Barrett Wellman
Wm. Barrett Wellman
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Date: May 27, 2022

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

By: /s/ Jeffrey J. Guzy
Jeffrey J. Guzy
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: May 27, 2022

By: /s/ Wm. Barrett Wellman
Wm. Barrett Wellman
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Date: May 27, 2022
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey J. Guzy, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, a Virginia corporation,
for the year ended December 31, 2020;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have;

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the most
recent quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter) covered by this report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 27, 2022 By:/s/ Jeffrey J. Guzy
Jeffrey J. Guzy
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Wm. Barrett Wellman, certify that:

1.
I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, a Virginia corporation,
for the year ended December 31, 2020;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4.
The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have;

(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the most
recent quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter) covered by this report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 27, 2022 By: /s/ Wm. Barrett Wellman
Wm. Barrett Wellman
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, a Virginia
corporation (the “Company”), for the year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report”), I, Jeffrey J. Guzy, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that;

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Date: May 27, 2022 By /s/ Jeffrey J. Guzy
Name: Jeffrey J. Guzy
Title: Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K of CoJax Oil and Gas Corporation, a Virginia
corporation (the “Company”), for the year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report”), I, Wm. Barrett Wellman, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that;

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Date: May 27, 2022 By /s/ Wm. Barrett Wellman
Name: Wm. Barrett Wellman
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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